



This is to certify that the

dissertation entitled

THE ROLE OF MATRIX METALLOPROTEINASES AND TISSUE INHIBITORS OF METALLOPROTEINASES IN OVULATION

presented by

Leanne Joy Bakke

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for

Ph.D. degree in Physiology

Jerry M. Dmith Major professor

Date 5/7/02

MSU is an Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Institution

0-12771

i

LIBRARY Michigan State University

PLACE IN RETURN BOX to remove this checkout from your record. TO AVOID FINES return on or before date due. MAY BE RECALLED with earlier due date if requested.

DATE DUE	DATE DUE	DATE DUE

6/01 c:/CIRC/DateDue.p65-p.15

THE ROLE OF MATRIX METALLOPROTEINASES AND TISSUE INHIBITORS OF METALLOPROTEINASES IN OVULATION

By

Leanne Joy Bakke

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Physiology

2002

ABSTRACT

THE ROLE OF MATRIX METALLOPROTEINASES AND TISSUE INHIBITORS OF METALLOPROTEINASES IN OVULATION

By

Leanne Joy Bakke

Extensive extracellular matrix (ECM) remodeling occurs in many physiological processes such as angiogenesis, ovulation, and bone development and many pathological processes such as tumor growth and metastasis, arthritis, and wound healing. The matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are a family of metal dependent enzymes that are largely responsible for degradation and restructuring of the ECM. Activity of the MMPs in the extracellular milieu is regulated by the tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs). However, little is known regarding the intracellular and extracellular signaling that regulates the MMPs and TIMPs. The ovulatory process is an ideal model for studying the MMPs and their inhibitors because it involves extensive tissue remodeling. The preovulatory LH surge is the endocrine signal that triggers ovulation. My hypothesis is that MMP and TIMP mRNA expression and activity are increased following a gonadotropin-induced LH surge. Specifically, an increase in gelatinase-A (MMP-2), collagenase (MMP-1 and MMP-13) and membrane-type MMP (MMP-14) is anticipated that results in the ultimate dissolution of the ECM resulting in follicle rupture. Likewise, an increase in TIMP expression and activity is anticipated to provide a homeostasis in the extracellular milieu that prevents overproduction and unrestrained activity of the MMPs. To test my hypothesis, I investigated the effect of a gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH)-induced LH surge on localization, expression, and activity of selected MMPs (MMP-1, 2, 13 and 14) and TIMPs (TIMPs 1-3). Following synchronization, bovine ovulatory follicles or new corpora lutea (CL) were collected by colpotomy at 0, 6, 12, 18, 24, and 48 h (CL) after a GnRH injection resulting in the LH surge (n = 5-8 per time point). MMP-14 expression, as well as TIMP-2 expression and activity, were increased following the LH surge, while MMP-2 mRNA expression and activity were unchanged. In addition, the collagenases MMP-1 and MMP-13 demonstrated increased mRNA expression following the LH surge. Of the two MMP-1 mRNA species detected, a 2.4 kb transcript was primarily expressed in the follicle, and a 1.8 kb transcript was predominant in the new CL. While TIMP-1 mRNA and activity were increased, TIMP-3 mRNA declined following the LH surge. Expression of MMP-14, MMP-2, and TIMP-3 mRNA was primarily localized to the theca cells, while TIMP-1 and TIMP-2 expression was localized to the granulosa cells. Based on their substrate specificity, intrafollicular localization, and increased mRNA expression following the LH surge, I conclude that MMP-1, MMP-13, and MMP-14 may mediate degradation of the type I and III collagen rich ECM in the theca layer and tunica While MMP-2 mRNA remained unchanged, localization of MMP-2 albuginea. activity to the cell surface may be important for basement membrane breakdown. The physiological significance of increased TIMP 1 and 2 following the LH surge is not yet known. TIMPs are multifunctional molecules that have been implicated in several functions within the ovary in addition to MMP inhibition. Finally, decreased expression of TIMP-3 following the LH surge may facilitate a shift in the MMP/TIMP ratio in the theca layer in favor of the MMP and thus promote ECM breakdown.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. George Smith for giving me the opportunity to reach my goals as a graduate student. I came to him in search of guidance with regards to my research objectives, and he provided me with direction and allowed me to work in his laboratory. I will miss our lengthy discussions both scientific and philosophical. I thank him for all that he has taught me.

I would also like to thank Dr. Ireland for giving me my start in research by accepting me into his laboratory as a first year graduate student. The members of his laboratory including Tara Good and Janet Ireland were also very helpful in the initial years of my graduate experience.

In addition, I wish to extend my sincere appreciation to the other members of my committee, Dr. Olson, Dr. Miksicek, and Dr. Orth for their continued support and input towards my research project. I especially thank Dr. Olson and Dr. Miksicek for their words of encouragement and Dr. Orth for allowing me to use his laboratory equipment and for his experimental advice during my graduate career.

It is of utmost importance to give the other members of Dr. Smith's laboratory my sincerest thanks in completion of this project. It is difficult to put into words how much this project was truly a group effort. Without Mark Dow, Isam Qawash, Carolyn Cassar, Camilla Peabody, Mike Peters, and Marci Charest this work truly would not have been possible. I will so deeply miss the time we all spent together. I also extend thanks to Tonia Peters for help and support over the years and to Theresa Doerr.

Finally, I would like to thank my family. My parents have provided their support from day one. They have encouraged me and believed in me, and for this I thank them.

iv

My husband has truly been an inspiration to me. We began this journey towards getting our doctorate degrees ten years ago together as freshmen in college. My accomplishment is largely attributable to his never ending encouragement and love. I lastly thank my son Benjamin for changing my life and making me smile during the many hours instilled in completion of this dissertation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

AKNOWLEDGEMENTSiv
LIST OF FIGURES
INTRODUCTION
CHAPTER I: LITERATURE REVIEW The Mechanism of Ovulation
Enzymes Involved in Proteolysis of the Follicle Wall
Structural and Biochemical Properties of the MMPs
Control of MMP Activity
The Extracellular Matrix Components of an Ovarian Follicle
The Role of MMPs in Ovulation
The Role of MMP Inhibitors in Ovulation
Pathways for Regulation of MMP Expression
Summary
CHAPTER II: MATERIALS AND METHODS Animal Care
Experimental Model
Tissue Collection
Generation of cDNAs
Characterization of mRNA Abundance
Semi-quantitative Multiplex RT-PCR41
In Situ Hybridization

Preparation of Follicle Homogenates
Gelatin Zymography/Reverse Zymography
Statistical Analysis
CHAPTER III: EFFECT OF THE PREOVULATORY GONADOTROPIN SURGE ON MATRIX METALLOPROTEINASE-14, MATRIX METALLOPROTEINASE-2, AND TISSUE INHIBITOR OF METALLOPROTEINASE-2 EXPRESSION WITHIN BOVINE PERIOVULATORY FOLLICULAR AND LUEAL TISSUE
Abstract
Introduction
Results
Discussion
CHAPTER IV: DIFFERENTIAL UPREGULATION OF INTERSTITIAL COLLAGENASE (MMP-1) AND COLLAGENASE-3 (MMP-13) mRNA TRANSCRIPTS IN BOVINE PERIOVULATORY FOLLICULAR AND LUTEAL TISSUE FOLLOWING THE LH SURGE
Abstract
Introduction
Results
Discussion
CHAPTER V: DIFFERENTIAL REGULATION OF TISSUE INHIBITORS OF METALLOPROTEINASES (TIMP) 1 AND 3 IN BOVINE PREOVULATORY FOLLICLES AND LUTEAL TISSUE FOLLOWING THE LU SUBCE: DOD LO ATIONS FOR DECUMATION
OF THE OVULATORY PROCESS
Abstract

Introduction
Results
Discussion
CHAPTER VI: GENERAL CONCLUSIONS AND LIMITATIONS101
Current Findings
Animal Models/Species Specificity 102
Limitations of the Present Studies
CHAPTER VII: FUTURE DIRECTIONS
BIBLIOGRAPHY

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGU	RE PAGE
1.	Ovulation
2.	Structure of MMP Domains
3.	Control of MMP Activity
4.	Extracellular Matrix Components of the Follicle Wall
5.	Matrix Metalloproteinases of Interest
6.	Summary of Intrafollicular Localization and Periovulatory Regulation of MMP-14, MMP-2, MMP-1, and MMP-1317
7.	Model of Cellular Signaling that Occurs Between the LH Surge and the Time of MMP Induction
8.	OVSYNCH Model
9.	Representative Serum LH and Progesterone Profile
10.	Northern Analysis of MMP-14 mRNA Expression
11.	In Situ Localization of MMP-14 mRNA within Bovine Periovulatory Follicles
12.	Northern Analysis of MMP-2 mRNA Expression
13.	In Situ Localization of MMP-2 mRNA within Bovine Periovulatory Follicles
14.	Gelatin Zymographic Analysis of MMP-2 Activity in Bovine Periovulatory Follicular Fluid
15.	Gelatin Zymographic Analysis of MMP-2 Activity in Bovine Follicle Apex Heat Extracts
16.	Gelatin Zymographic Analysis of MMP-2 Activity in Bovine Follicle Base Heat Extracts

17.	Gelatin Zymographic Analysis of MMP-2 Activity in Bovine Follicle Apex Triton Extracts
1 8 .	Gelatin Zymographic Analysis of MMP-2 Activity in Bovine Follicle Base Triton Extracts
19.	Northern Analysis of TIMP-2 mRNA Expression
20.	In Situ Localization of TIMP-2 mRNA within Bovine Periovulatory Follicles
21.	Representative Reverse Zymographic Analysis of TIMP-2 Activiy in Bovine Follicle Homogenates
22.	Reverse Zymographic Analysis of TIMP-2 Activity in Bovine Periovulatory Follicular Fluid
23.	Northern Analysis of MMP-1 mRNA Expression
24.	Northern Analysis of MMP-1 mRNA Expression using an MMP-1 Upstream Probe
25.	Northern Analysis of MMP-13 mRNA Expression
26.	Semi-quantitative RT-PCR of MMP-13 mRNA Expression
27.	Northern Analysis of TIMP-1 mRNA Expression
28.	In Situ Localization of TIMP-1 mRNA within Bovine Periovulatory Follicles
29.	Representative Reverse Zymographic Analysis of TIMP-1 and TIMP-3 Activity in Bovine Follicle Homogenates
30.	Reverse Zymographic Analysis of TIMP-1 Activity in Bovine Periovulatory Follicular Fluid
31.	Northern Analysis of TIMP-3 mRNA Expression
32.	In Situ Localization of TIMP-3 mRNA within Bovine Periovulatory Follicles

Introduction

The extracellular matrix (ECM) provides both a scaffolding to which cells can attach and take shape and a specialized microenvironment that sequesters growth factors, contains ligands that interact with cell surface receptors, and directs cell motility [1, 2]. Extensive ECM remodeling occurs in many physiological and pathological processes. ECM remodeling is largely mediated by two families of proteinases, the matrix metalloproteinase family and the plasminogen activator/plasmin family, and their inhibitors [3]. The matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) play a role in ECM reorganization during normal physiological processes such as angiogenesis, embryo development, ovulation, mammary growth and involution, and bone development [4]. They also play a role during pathological processes such as tumor growth, rheumatoid arthritis, tumor cell metastasis, wound healing, and osteoarthritis [2, 5]. However, little is known regarding the intracellular and extracellular signaling that regulates the MMPs and their inhibitors.

Because the ovulatory process involves extensive tissue remodeling, it is an ideal model for studying the MMPs and TIMPs. Ovulation involves controlled degradation of both the epithelial and stromal layers of the follicle. Following follicle rupture, further cellular remodeling occurs during corpus luteum (CL) formation. Degradation of the ECM liberates growth factors and binding proteins, which regulate cell proliferation and migration [6]. Angiogenesis is also a prerequisite for CL development as the theca and granulosa layers become vascularized and begin to luteinize. Cytokines such as interleukin-1 (IL-1) and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) are released by granulosa cells and/or macrophages. Both factors are potential regulators of MMP expression.

While much is known concerning the endocrinology of ovulation, little is known about the cellular events involved in follicle rupture. A better understanding of the mechanism of ovulation may lead to improved treatments for reproductive anomalies in humans and other species. A classic example is the luteinized unruptured follicle syndrome in humans. In this condition, mature follicles fail to rupture, and the luteinizing granulosa cells trap the ovum. This syndrome is often seen in women treated with prostaglandin synthase inhibitors [7, 8].

Additionally, MMPs, specifically gelatinase A (MMP-2), gelatinase B (MMP-9), and membrane type-1 MMP (MMP-14), have been implicated in ovarian cancer and metastasis. The majority of ovarian cancers develop after malignant transformation of the surface epithelium. Following follicle rupture, the ovarian surface repairs itself through rapid epithelial cell proliferation and remodeling. Ovarian epithelial cancers are believed to result from disruption of this normal tissue repair process resulting in uncontrolled degradation and invasion of the ovarian surface layer following follicle rupture [9].

Finally, an increased understanding of the mechanism of ovulation may ultimately be applicable to animal agriculture. For example, synchroniziation of ovulation in lactating dairy cows provides more control in artificial insemination (AI) programs and removes dependence on the cow to exhibit estrus or on the manager to detect/observe estrus before AI. Development of simpler and less costly methods of ovulation control than are currently available would have a major impact on reproductive management of dairy cows.

Chapter I

Literature Review

The mechanism of ovulation. Successful ovulation is necessary for fertilization and reproductive success (Figure 1). While much is known about the endocrinology of ovulation, little is known about the cellular mechanisms involved in follicle rupture. Scientists have been interested in ovulation since 1670 when de Graaf first recognized that the egg comes from the ovary but incorrectly concluded that the entire follicle was the egg [10]. Since then, many theories concerning the mechanisms of ovulation have arisen. At the beginning of the 20th century, investigators began examining the smooth muscle theory. It was brought about by persistent reports that the dominant cell type in the theca externa layer of the follicle wall was a smooth-muscle cell [11]. However, investigators were never able to chemically or electrically stimulate the follicle to rupture. The pressure theory was also popular at the beginning of the 20th century based on observations that follicle rupture was truly "an explosive phenomenon". However, intrafollicular pressure does not increase prior to ovulation [12]. The current and accepted theory is the proteolytic enzyme theory. The follicle wall becomes progressively weaker prior to follicle rupture. Initial evidence for this theory showed that treatment of follicle wall strips with proteolytic enzymes mimics preovulatory degradation of the follicular connective tissue [13].

The LH surge. The preovulatory LH surge is the endocrine signal that triggers ovulation. The follicular phase begins with regression of the corpus luteum. The

3



Figure 1: The mechanism of ovulation.

subsequent decrease in progesterone leads to an increase in LH pulse frequency, which induces further maturation of the ovulatory follicle. An increase in estradiol production from the dominant follicle results in increased gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH) culminating in the LH surge. Increasing evidence indicates that proteolytic extracellular matrix (ECM) degradation at the apex of ovulatory follicles prior to ovulation is a crucial step in the complex cascade of events initiated by the LH surge [14-17].

Enzymes involved in proteolysis of the follicle wall. Two families of enzymes have been implicated in causing the degradation of the follicle wall: the plasminogen activator/plasmin family and the matrix metalloproteinase family [3]. The serine proteinases tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) and urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) convert the inactive zymogen plasminogen into its active form plasmin, which has broad substrate specificity. Intrafollicular plasmin can decrease the tensile strength of the preovulatory follicle wall [18]. Concentrations of tPA, uPA, and plasmin increase during the periovulatory period [3, 19, 20]. Several studies suggest a role for plasminogen in the early stages of the ovulatory process such as in the activation of interstitial collagenase (MMP-1) and stromelysin-1 [21].

Mice with targeted mutations in the tPA and uPA genes have been examined to determine the absolute requirement of these enzymes in ovulation. Ovulation rates are normal in mice with a homozygous null mutation in either the tPA or the uPA gene [22]. However, mice carrying homozygous null mutations in both genes exhibit a 26% reduction in ovulation rate. Therefore, the plasminogen activator/plasmin enzyme family does contribute to the ovulatory process. However, these enzymes do not directly cleave all collagenous components of the ECM. Consequently, the activity of these enzymes

5

alone cannot account for the proteolytic degradation of the follicle wall that occurs prior to ovulation.

Structural and biochemical properties of the MMPs. The MMP family consists of >26 members to date; however, this number is rapidly increasing. The family is divided into four subclasses based on structural and biochemical properties. The subclasses are the collagenases, gelatinases, stromelysins, and the membrane type [23]. All MMPs are synthesized as preproenzymes. With the exception of the membrane type 1-MMP (MMP-14) and stromelysin-3, MMPs are secreted from cells as a latent proenzyme [23]. The full length MMP is made up of a ~ 20 amino acid signal peptide, an ~ 80 residue Nterminal pro-domain followed by the ~ 170 residue catalytic domain (Figure 2). The catalytic domain (except for matrilysin) is covalently connected through a 10 to 70 residue proline-rich linker to a \sim 195 residue C-terminal hemopexin-like domain [24]. In the membrane type-MMPs, the polypeptide chain contains an additional 75 to 100 residue extension which is thought to form a transmembrane helix and a small cytoplasmic domain. In the gelatinases, an additional 175 amino acids are inserted into the catalytic domain, which consists of three fibronectin-related type II modules that bind gelatin and collagen [24]. MMPs are further characterized by the unique sequence motif, PRCG[V/N]PD, in the propeptide. and the zinc binding motif. HEXGHX[L/M]G[L/M]XH, in the catalytic domain in which three histidines bind to the catalytic zinc atom [23].

Membrane type-1 MMP



Figure 2: Structure of MMP Domains. The propeptide contains the cysteine switch, which interacts with Zn in the pro-MMP. The Zn/cys interaction is disrupted during the activation process. The pro-region is cleaved off resulting in the active MMP. (Modified from Nagase, 1997, reference 23).

Control of MMP activity. Upon secretion, control of MMP activity is achieved through three basic mechanisms: activation, inhibition, and localization (Figure 3). MMPs can be activated by a number of different mechanisms including intracellular processing by furin (MT-MMPs) or extracellular processing by soluble activators such as mast cell proteinases, serine proteinases (plasmin and kallikriens), and other proteolytically active MMPs [2]. Activation of proMMPs occurs in a stepwise process. The inactive MMP contains a cysteine in the pro-region whose sulfur interacts with the zinc that is bound to the catalytic domain. An initial cleavage of a proteinase susceptible "bait" region of the N-terminal domain disrupts this Cys-Zinc interaction. A second cleavage removes the remaining pro-region allowing the zinc to react with a water molecule and the MMP to become active [23]. This second cleavage is usually catalyzed by an MMP, but not by the activator proteinase that carries out the initial cleavage.

Inhibition of MMPs in the extracellular milieu is mediated by a family of proteins called the tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) as well as α_2 - macroglobulin. Currently, four members of the TIMP family (TIMPs 1-4) have been identified [25]. TIMPs form a reversible noncovalent bond with MMPs with a 1:1 stoichiometry and high affinity, thereby inhibiting their activity [26]. The ratio of MMPs to TIMPs may be an important factor in ECM degradation since agents that stimulate MMP expression will also increase TIMP expression.

Localization of MMPs also regulates their activity. For example, MMP-2 can be localized to the cell surface through interactions with MMP-14 [27]. MMPs can also bind to integrins through their hemopexin-like domain, resulting in localization at the cell surface [28].



Figure 3: Control of MMP activity. A schematic representation of the pathways for matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) production, activation, and inhibition.

The Extracellular Matrix Components of an Ovarian Follicle.

The follicle wall. In order for an oocyte to be released from a follicle, it must pass through the many layers of the follicle wall (Figure 4). The first layer it encounters is the granulosa cell layer whose primary ECM component is fibronectin [15]. Next, it reaches the basement membrane, which separates the granulosa cells from the theca cells and contains collagen IV as well as laminin, fibronectin, and proteoglycan. The theca layer follows which consists of collagens I and III succeeded by the tunica albuginea which also consists primarily of collagens I and III [15]. Finally it reaches the surface epithelium which is a single layer of cuboidal cells which are loosely attached to a thin basement membrane at the surface of the tunica albuginea. The surface epithelium contains collagens I, III, and V as well as keratin and laminin.

The mechanism whereby the structural organization of the follicle promotes selective degradation at the apex of the follicle versus the base is not understood. Homogeneous layers of theca and granulosa cells surround the follicle. At the time of ovulation, granulosa and theca cells at the apex and base contain LH receptors and can respond to the LH surge. Electron microscopy of sheep follicles showed a decrease in theca collagen fibrils at the apex versus the base 24 hours after a GnRH-induced LH surge [17]. Furthermore, Murdoch detected increased collagenolytic activity at the apex versus the base of the follicle [17]. Further examination of enzyme activity at the apex versus the base is needed to understand the spatial regulation of the ovulatory process.

The surface epithelium. The most notable distinction between the follicle apex and base is the presence of the surface epithelium. During the ovulatory process, the surface



Figure 4: The extracellular matrix components of an ovarian follicle. (Modified from Espey and Lipner, 1994, reference 15).

epithelium undergoes apoptosis, and it is thought that proteolytic enzymes released from these dying cells could preferentially degrade the collagen at the apex of the follicle [29]. Several biochemical mediators have been implicated in the induction of apoptosis during ovulation such as tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) and prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂). Prostaglandin E₂ stimulated apoptosis in primary cultures of sheep ovarian surface epithelium [30]. TNF- α is a known apoptotic agent [31] that is secreted by bovine preovulatory follicles [32] and has enhanced ovulation rates [33]. Furthermore, TNF- α antibodies inhibited ovulation [34]. TNF- α is also thought to contribute to the ovulatory process by stimulating the expression of collagenase 1 (MMP-1) [35].

Scientists have long debated whether the ovulatory degradation of the follicular apex starts at the outside and successively progresses to the interior of the follicle wall, or whether the initiation of degradation lies in secretion of proteolytic enzymes originating from cells in the interior of the follicle such as granulosa or theca cells. Several studies point to the surface epithelial cells as the origin of proteolytic enzymes and follicle wall degeneration [29, 36, 37]. Furthermore, in certain species ovulation is restricted to an area (fossa) of the ovary covered by surface epithelium [38]. However, this hypothesis has not been supported by other studies showing that the surface epithelium is no longer a component of the follicle wall at the site where rupture occurs [39, 40]. In addition, previous studies have shown that if the surface epithelium is scraped from mature follicles, some of the scraped follicles will still ovulate after gonadotropin stimulation [41]. Finally, the fate of the ovarian surface epithelium may be related to the presence or absence of a basement membrane. At the time of hCG-induced ovulation, some ovarian surface epithelial cells undergo mitosis, while others undergo apoptosis [42, 43]. A series of studies examining the role of potential growth factors within the ovary have shown that in the absence of extracellular matrix, hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) decreases cell contact, promotes cell migration, and induces apoptosis [44]. The dissolution of the basement membrane may result in apoptosis of the surface epithelial cells at the site of rupture, while the ovarian surface epithelial cells adjacent to the apex undergo mitosis and eventually fill in the stigma [42, 43, 45]. Further studies evaluating the presence of proteolytic enzymes at the apex of the follicle are necessary in order to understand the spatial regulation of follicle rupture.

Proteoglycans. The fibrous proteins of the extracellular matrix are imbedded in a gellike "ground substance" which consists of glycosaminoglycan and proteoglycan molecules. Glycosaminoglycans (GAGs) are unbranched repeating unit polysaccharide chains that are usually sulfated. Glycosaminoglycans are divided into four groups based on the type and linkage of their sugar residues and the number and location of sulfate groups: heparin sulfate (HS) and heparin, chondroitin/dermatan sulfate (CS/DS), hyaluronic acid, and keratan sulfate. Except for hyaluronic acid, all GAGs are found covalently attached to a protein core in the form of proteoglycans. Several functions have been proposed for the proteoglycans in follicle development and ovarian function. The predominant GAGs in bovine follicular fluid are chondroitin/dermatan sulfates [46]. Chondroitin/dermatan sulfate was also localized to the basement membrane as well as the theca and granulosa cell layers within bovine antral follicles [47]. The CS/DS containing proteoglycans versican and decorin, as well as the HS-containing proteoglycan perlecan, were also observed in bovine antral follicles [47]. Versican is considered to be important in stabilizing extracellular matrix components [48], and decorin is known to regulate collagen formation and ECM structure development [49]. Perlecan is found in the basement membrane and is thought to be involved in serum filtration and follicular fluid formation. Proteoglycans have also been proposed to influence the availability of lipoprotein as a steroidogenic substrate for granulosa cells [50]. In addition, theca proteoglycans stabilize the connective tissue matrix through interactions with collagen fibers, and breakdown of proteoglycans precedes follicle rupture [51].

The Role of MMPs in Ovulation

Although several MMPs likely play a role in ovulation, we have chosen to initially examine the roles of membrane type 1-MMP (MMP-14), gelatinase A (MMP-2), interstitial collagenase (MMP-1), and collagenase 3 (MMP-13) based on their substrate specificity and biochemical properties (Figure 5). A summary of available information on intrafollicular localization and periovulatory regulation of such MMPs in other species is outlined in Figure 6.

Membrane type 1-MMP. Membrane type MMPs (MT-MMPs) have been termed as possible "master switches" that control ECM remodeling [52]. Membrane type 1-MMP (MMP-14) is most noted for its ability to localize MMP activity to the cell surface [53]. MMP-14 can also activate MMPs, hence localizing proteolytic activity [54]. MMP-14 has been shown to activate gelatinase A (MMP-2) and collagenase 3 (MMP-13) [53, 55]. Activation of MMP-2, for example, occurs in several steps. First, TIMP-2 binds to MMP-14 at the cell surface. Next, pro-MMP-2 binds to TIMP-2 through its carboxy-terminal hemopexin domain. Binding to TIMP-2 localizes pro-MMP-2 at the cell surface and brings it in close proximity to MMP-14. A nearby MMP-14 molecule cleaves the propiece of MMP-2 yielding active MMP-2 in a trimolecular complex at the cell surface

Matrix Metalloproteinases of Interest

MMP No.	Matrix Substrate or Functions
MMP-1	Collagens I, II, III, IV, X
MMP-13	Collagens I, II, III
MMP-2	Collagens I, IV, V, gelatins
MMP-14	Activates pro-MMP-2 Activates pro-MMP-13 Collagens I, III Fibronectin, laminin, proteoglycans
	MMP-1 MMP-13 MMP-2 MMP-14

Figure 5: Matrix metalloproteinases of interest [23, 55].

[56]. MMP-14 may also play a direct role in degradation of the preovulatory follicle wall via its ability to cleave type I and III collagen as well as fibronectin, laminin, and proteoglycans. Espey and Lipner [15] postulated that proteinases localized on the cell surface promote cell dissociation and breakdown of the surrounding collagen fibers within the theca externa and tunica albuginea during ovulation. In addition, MMP-14 can indirectly promote degradation of types I and III collagen by its ability to activate procollagenase 3 (MMP-13) [55]. Furthermore, MMP-14 is not inhibited by TIMP-1, allowing degradation to occur in the presence of high concentrations of inhibitor [57]. This may be especially significant, given TIMP-1 is dramatically increased in preovulatory follicles of several species in response to the gonadotropin surge [58-62].

The role of MMP-14 in the ovulatory process is not understood (Figure 6). In mouse and rat preovulatory follicles, MMP-14 mRNA expression is evident in the granulosa cells and theca cells [58, 63]. In situ mRNA localization in mouse [58] and rat [63] preovulatory follicles revealed a decrease in MMP-14 mRNA expression in the granulosa layer with a simultaneous increase in MMP-14 expression in the theca-interstitial cells in response to hCG injection. However, previous studies of MMP-14 mRNA expression in mice (by Northern analysis) demonstrated no change in expression in the ovary following an ovulatory stimulus (hCG injection) [58].

Gelatinase A. The activity of gelatinase A may also contribute to the ovulatory process. Gelatinase A (MMP-2) is most noted for its ability to cleave the denatured helix of collagen (gelatin) and type IV collagen, a major component of the basement membrane. During the ovulatory process, it is thought that MMP-2 plays a role in degradation of the

	MT-1 MMP	Gelatinase A	Interstitial Collagenase	Collagenase 3
RNA	No change (mice)	↑ (rats) ↑ (macaque) No change (mice)	↑ (rats) ↑ (macaque)	?
In Situ	↓ GC (mice/rats) ↑ theca (mice/rats)	theca (mouse/rat)	GC/theca preov (gilt) theca after LH surge (gilt) GC (macaque, rabbit, human	theca (rats)
Activity	, ?	↑ (rats) No change (mice) ↑ (sheep)	↑ (rats) ↑ (sheep)	?

Regulation of MMPs in Response to the LH Surge

Figure 6: Summary of intrafollicular localization and periovulatory regulation of MT1-MMP (MMP-14), gelatinase A (MMP-2), interstitial collagenase (MMP-1), and collagenase 3 (MMP-13) [35, 58, 63-68, 71, 74, 78].

.

basement membrane that separates the granulosa from the theca cells. It also further hydrolyzes the denatured fibrils of collagen following their initial cleavage by a collagenase. The effect of an ovulatory stimulus on MMP-2 expression during the periovulatory period appears to be species specific. MMP-2 mRNA expression [64] and activity [65] are increased following injection of surge levels of LH. Matrix metalloproteinase-2 mRNA is also increased in preovulatory macaque granulosa cells in response to hCG administration in vivo [66]. These results are in contrast to previous studies in the mouse which report that expression of MMP-2 mRNA and activity is constitutive during the periovulatory period [58]. In situ localization studies in the mouse and rat have localized MMP-2 mRNA to the theca layer [63, 64]. Further evidence of a role of MMP-2 in ovulation is seen in a study by Russel, et al, who immunized ewes against the N-terminal peptide of the 43-kDa subunit of α -N inhibin [67]. Following hCG administration, MMP-2 activity increased in follicular fluid of control ewes. However, MMP-2 activity decreased in the follicular fluid of immunized animals, and the ovulatory process was impaired. In addition, the LH surge increases MMP-2 activity in sheep follicular extracts [68] and intrafollicular injection of MMP-2 antibodies can block ovulation [69]. The precise function of MMP-2 in bovine preovulatory follicles awaits the localization of its expression and the regulation of its activity following the LH surge.

Collagenases. It has long been accepted that collagenolysis is a prerequisite for ovulation considering the dense meshwork of collagen fibers that make up the ECM of the follicle. The oocyte must penetrate three collagen rich layers of the follicle in order to be released. The collagenases are best noted for their ability to degrade types I, II, and III collagen. While much redundancy is seen among MMPs and their substrates, the

collagenases are unique in their ability to cleave the triple helical collagen molecule. Following this initial site-specific cleavage, the fragmented collagen becomes less stable and more soluble as it uncoils [70]. Following denaturation, the collagen products become susceptible to further degradation by other proteinases. In 1965, Espey and Lipner provided the first evidence for a role of collagenase in follicle rupture [13]. They injected minute amounts of bacterial collagenase into rabbit follicles and observed rupture minutes later. Reich first correlated collagenase activity with ovulation. He labeled follicular collagen and observed a 40% decrease in follicle collagen content following a hCG-induced LH surge [71]. Blocking the LH surge abolished this decrease. In the rat and sheep, an increase in preovulatory collagenolytic activity is seen following the LH surge [17, 71]. Furthermore, agents that inhibit collagenase activity inhibit ovulation [72]. Finally, mice with a targeted mutation in the type I collagen gene, resulting in a molecule that is resistant to collagenase, show markedly reduced fertility, potentially due to an impairment of the ovulatory process [73].

Preovulatory follicle collagenase activity is also regulated by the LH surge. Collagenolytic activity is increased in rat ovaries [71, 74] and sheep preovulatory follicles [35] in response to an ovulatory stimulus. Furthermore, there is evidence that selective collagen degradation occurs at the apex of the follicle, which could be attributable to collagenase activity. Espey first showed that as ovulation approaches, the follicle wall becomes thinner and the concentration of collagen fibrils is decreased at the apex [75]. Electron microscopy of sheep follicles showed a decrease in collagen fibrils at the apex versus the base 24 hours after a GnRH-induced LH surge [17]. Furthermore, Murdoch detected increased collagenolytic activity at the apex versus the base of the follicle [17].

Interstitial collagenase. Interstitial collagenase (MMP-1) is most likely responsible for the initial degradation and unwinding of the triple helical fibers of collagen within the follicular apex prior to ovulation. The expression and localization of interstitial collagenase has been examined in several species (Figure 6). Interstitial collagenase mRNA increases 25-fold following the LH surge in rats [64]. MMP-1 mRNA is also increased in macaque granulosa cells following an ovulatory stimulus [66]. In gilts, in situ hybridization studies localized interstitial collagenase mRNA to the granulosa and theca interna cells of preovulatory follicles, but only to the theca interna following LH/hCG stimulation [76]. Immunolocalization of interstitial collagenase in rabbits demonstrated it is present within the theca and granulosa cells and increases within these cells after follicle rupture [77]. In monkeys, MMP-1 mRNA is expressed by granulosa cells following the LH surge, and human granulosa cells have also been shown to secrete MMP-1 [16, 66]. Previous studies have also shown increased proMMP-1 at the apex of rabbit follicles following gonadotropin stimulation [77].

Collagenase 3. Like interstitial collagenase, collagenase 3 (MMP-13) cleaves collagens I, II, and III. Unlike many of the other members of the MMP family that are expressed in several tissues throughout the body, in rats MMP-13 is highly expressed in the ovary [78]. The effect of the LH surge on MMP-13 expression is unclear. In rats, MMP-13 mRNA is highly expressed by theca/stroma cells of antral follicles [78]. Furthermore, while MMP-13 is not induced in immature rats following an ovulatory dose of hCG, it is expressed at high levels during proestrus and estrus in mature rats. These studies showed MMP-13 to be at a minimum at metestrus and at a gradual incline from diestrus to proestrus [78]. It was postulated that an element required for induction of MMP-13 expression is not present in an immature rat. MMP-13 mRNA is undetectable by Northern analysis in the mouse ovary during the periovulatory period [58]. MMP-13 activity may also be localized to the cell surface by MMP-14 since MMP-14 activates pro-MMP-13 [23]. Furthermore, MMP-14 activation of MMP-13 is enhanced in the presence of gelatinase A [55].

Other MMPs. Limited information is available regarding the intrafollicular localization and periovulatory regulation of other newly described MMPs with relatively uncharacterized substrate specificity. In mice, MMP-19 is increased 5-10 fold following hCG treatment and is localized to the granulosa and theca cells of large preovulatory follicles [58]. Furthermore, MMP-23 is predominantly expressed in reproductive tissues [79] and could play a role in ovulation. However, increased expression of MMP-23 mRNA is not required for follicle rupture in cattle [80]. Further investigation will be required to elucidate the temporal and spatial regulation of expression of individual MMP family members and their precise contribution to the ovarian ECM degradation characteristic of the ovulatory process.

Matrix metalloproteinase-9 (gelatinase B) has also been implicated in the ovulatory process. In rats [56] and macaques [66], MMP-9 mRNA is increased in response to an ovulatory stimulus. Matrix metalloproteinase-9 activity is also increased in ovarian homogenates following an ovulatory dose of hCG in the mouse [81]. In rats, MMP-9, mRNA is localized to the theca cells of preovulatory follicles [82], and preliminary data in bovine show a similar result. In the bovine, MMP-9 may be the primary mediator of

follicular basement membrane breakdown prior to ovulation. Messenger RNA for MMP-9 is increased in bovine preovulatory follicles in response to the gonadotropin surge (Cassar, Bakke, and Smith, unpublished data).

The Role of MMP Inhibitors in Ovulation

Tissue Inhibitors of Metalloproteinases. The primary inhibitors of MMP activity in the ECM are a family of proteins called the tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs 1-4). TIMPs play a critical role in controlling MMP-mediated ECM remodeling. TIMPs are thought to provide a homeostasis that prevents overproduction and unrestrained activity of MMPs. The MMP/TIMP ratio is an important regulator of the amount of ECM degradation. If the ratio favors MMP activity, degradation occurs. When the ratio favors the TIMPs, ECM deposition may occur [2]. Likewise, overproduction and unrestrained activity of MMPs is involved in tumor metastasis and osteoarthritis [83].

Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases inhibit MMP activity by binding noncovalently with a 1:1 stoichiometry and high affinity [26]. Although they share structural similarities, each TIMP is a separate gene product containing 12 cysteine residues that form six disulfide bonds and contribute to the stability of TIMP molecules [84]. TIMPs differ in their degree of glycosylation, molecular weight, as well as their solubility [85, 86]. While TIMPs 1, 2, and 4 are soluble within the extracellular milieu, TIMP-3 is secreted and then bound to the extracellular matrix [87, 88]. The least is known about TIMP-4, although preliminary studies suggest that it is most similar to TIMP-2 [85, 89]. TIMPs are multifunctional molecules that have been implicated in several functions within the ovary in addition to MMP inhibition. For example, TIMPs have been noted to promote steroidogenesis [90], stimulate cell growth in a variety of tissues [91], help promote activation of MMPs [53], inhibit angiogenesis [92], and influence apoptosis [93], all processes that may contribute to ovulation and subsequent corpus luteum formation.

The specific functions of TIMPs during the periovulatory period are unclear. Interestingly, MMPs and TIMPs are often secreted in parallel as many factors that stimulate expression of MMPs also increase expression of the inhibitors [94]. The LHmediated regulation of TIMPs 1, 2, and 3 appears to be species specific. While TIMP-1 mRNA is increased in the mouse [58, 95], rat [61, 64, 96], sheep [60], and macaque [66] following gonadotropin stimulation, the spatial regulation of TIMP-1 is distinct in these species. In the mouse, TIMP-1 expression is localized to granulosa and theca-interstitial cells of preovulatory follicles [58]. In mice that were not hormone primed, TIMP-1 expression was not observed in granulosa or theca cells at any stage of the cycle [95]. TIMP-1 expression in the rat is observed in the theca interna and to a lesser extent in the granulosa cells following hCG administration [97]. Other studies in the rat report the presence of TIMP-1 mRNA in both the granulosa cells and the residual tissue, and expression is increased after hCG stimulation [64]. In sheep, the granulosa cells are the primary source of TIMP-1 [60].

While TIMPs were once thought to be purely inhibitory to MMP function and degradation, it appears TIMP-2 can actually aid in the activation of proMMP-2 by localizing it with MMP-14 at the cell surface [23]. Following an ovulatory stimulus, TIMP-2 expression is constitutive in rat [98] and mouse [58, 95] ovaries and sheep preovulatory follicles [99], but is increased in macaque granulosa cells [66]. Previous studies observed increased expression of TIMP-2 mRNA in preovulatory follicular and

23
luteal tissue collected from beef heifers within 8 and 48 h (CL) of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge [100], but the localization of TIMP-2 mRNA and changes in TIMP-2 activity were not determined. Messenger RNA for TIMP-2 was localized exclusively to the theca layer of ovine follicles [99], and a similar localization has been observed in rats and mice [58, 101].

Previous reports examining the regulation of TIMP-3 are conflicting [58, 95]. In cycling mice, TIMP-3 is increased at early proestrus [95], while in eCG-primed mice, TIMP-3 expression is unchanged following hCG administration [58]. Furthermore, in mice [95] and rats [97], TIMP-3 expression is observed in both granulosa and theca cells as well as interstitial tissue following gonadotropin stimulation.

In the sheep, TIMP-1 mRNA is localized predominantly within the granulosa layer of ovine follicles collected 12 hours after the LH surge [102]. In contrast, TIMP-2 mRNA is localized exclusively within the theca layer of ovine follicles collected at the same time point, suggesting complementary yet distinct roles for each inhibitor during the preovulatory period [99].

 α_2 -Macroglobulin. The original nomenclature of MMP inhibitors consisted of two major classes of inhibitors: serum-borne, or fluid phase inhibitors, and tissue-derived [85]. The traditional serum-borne inhibitors are α_1 -macroglobulin, α_2 -macroglobulin, and α_1 -inhibitor₃. TIMPs were considered to be the key inhibitors in the tissue. However, the terminology is now changing due to the detection of α_2 -macroglobulin in the ovary [103] and follicular fluid [104], and the detection of TIMPs in serum. Previous studies have detected α_2 -macroglobulin in the calls, luteinized granulosa cells and CL inhibition in serum, its large molecular size (M_r =720,000) as well as its broad range of specificity appears to limit its physiological significance in the ovarian extracellular connective tissue matrix [104, 105]. Yet, as ovulation approaches, increased permeability of follicular capillaries and basement membrane breakdown may permit access to the extracellular matrix and follicular fluid. It has been postulated that α_2 -macroglobulin might function in ovulation to restrict collagenolytic activity to the vicinity of the mature follicles that are destined to rupture [15, 106]. However, TIMPs remain the main focus for study of MMP inhibitory regulation due to their high abundance and specificity, as well as dynamic temporal and cell-specific regulation during the periovulatory period.

[103]. While α_2 -macroglobulin has been shown to account for about 95% of collagenase

Pathways for Regulation of MMP Expression.

Ultimately, it will be of great importance to determine the cellular signaling that occurs between the LH surge and the time of MMP and TIMP induction. Several mechanisms have been proposed. There is evidence that the LH surge stimulates production of both eicosanoids (prostaglandins, leukotrienes, and thromboxanes) and the progesterone receptor, ultimately leading to stimulation of MMPs (Figure 7). The proposed pathway is as follows. LH works through a G-protein coupled receptor to activate adenylate cyclase followed by increased cAMP and protein kinase A (PKA) activity. The increased PKA activity changes the steroidogenic capacity of the granulosa and theca cells from production of primarily estrogen to production of large quantities of progesterone. This pathway also leads to induction of progesterone receptor gene expression. Stimulation of



Figure 7: Model of cellular signaling that occurs between the LH surge and the time of MMP and TIMP induction.

the cyclooxygenase pathway leads to prostaglandin production, while stimulation of the lipoxygenase pathway leads to leukotriene production.

Transcriptional regulation of MMPs may be controlled on a number of different levels. The human MMP-1 promoter contains several regulatory sequences including five activator protein-1 (AP-1), five activator protein-2 (AP-2), five glucocorticoidresponse elements and multiple ets/polyoma enhancer-binding 3 elements [107]. While some MMP-1 promoter AP-1 sites contribute to constitutive expression or upregulation by phorbol esters [108], no AP-1 sites have been found in the promoter region of the human MMP-2 gene, and MMP-2 expression is not induced by 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate in most cell types [109]. Furthermore, the transcription factors Sp1, Sp3, and AP-2 are required for MMP-2 gene expression in certain cell types [110]. In contrast the human MMP-14 gene appears to have distinctive structural and functional features compared with other MMP genes. The locations of two exon-intron splicing sites are distinct from their conserved positions in other MMPs [111]. In addition, the MMP-14 promoter contains several putative regulatory elements, including one crucial Sp-1 site and four CCAAT-boxes, with no TATA-box [111]. Further investigation of MMP promoter regulatory sites and their interaction with transcriptional regulators such as NF-kappaB [112], p53 [113], transforming growth factor β [114], immediate early genes [108], and several other growth factors [107] will lead to a better understanding of the potential intra and intercellular mechanisms involved in MMP transcriptional regulation.

Eicosanoids. A considerable amount of data supports the role of eicosanoids in ovulation and MMP regulation. Inhibitors of arachidonic acid metabolism prevent

ovulation [115]. In rats, inhibitors of eicosanoid synthesis also suppress LH-induced interstitial collagenase mRNA expression [64]. Furthermore, indomethacin, an inhibitor of cyclooxygenase, and NDGA (nordihydroguaiaretic acid), an inhibitor of the lipoxygenase pathway, prevent ovarian collagenolysis and ovulation in rats [71]. Likewise, a specific inhibitor of 5-lipoxygenase, MK-886, suppressed collagenase activity as well as ovulation [116]. While a direct relationship between arachidonic acid derivatives and MMP activity in the bovine is still unknown, previous studies have shown that the cyclooxygenase-2 enzyme (COX-2; prostaglandin synthase enzyme) is induced within the granulosa layer of bovine preovulatory follicles following the LH surge [117, 118]. Follicular fluid PGE₂ levels are increased within 18 h after hCG treatment in cattle [117, 119]. Furthermore, preliminary results indicate that bovine preovulatory follicles express the PGE₂ receptor subtype EP2 (Cassar/Smith, unpublished). Mice with targeted mutations in the COX-2 gene fail to ovulate even when stimulated with exogenous gonadotropins [120, 121], and PGE₂ supplementation restores ovulation [122]. Furthermore, the ovulation rate is reduced in rats following administration of the COX-2 inhibitor NS-398 [123]. Likewise, LH-mediated increases in COX-2 mRNA and protein are seen in the rat, cow, and mare [124].

When discussing the role of LH-induced prostaglandin synthase and prostaglandin production in ovulation it is important to clarify the prostaglandin synthase being described. The LH surge was first shown to stimulate immunoreactive prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase (PSG), also called cyclooxygenase (COX), in preovulatory rat follicles in vivo in 1987 [125]. Initially, it was assumed that this was the same PGS (COX) that was originally isolated from ovine seminal vesicles [126].

However, affinity-purified antibodies indicated that there were two forms of PGS. One was inducible by LH in granulosa cells of preovulatory follicles (now called PGS-2/COX-2); the other was constitutively expressed in theca cells of developing follicles, corpora lutea, and uterus, but is not present in granulosa cells [127, 128]. In the cow, no detectable PGS-1 mRNA and protein are observed in preovulatory follicles indicating that PGS-2/COX-2 is the exclusive and critical source of prostaglandins during the ovulatory process [117]. Furthermore, mice with a targeted disruption of COX-2, but not COX-1, fail to ovulate in response to gonadotropin stimulation [120, 121].

Progesterone Of further interest is the role of progesterone in the signaling pathway between the LH surge and MMP expression. One of the first experiments to establish progesterone as an important mediator of the ovulatory process showed that ovulation could be inhibited by epostane [129]. Epostane is a competitive inhibitor of 3β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase, and most likely exerts its antiovulatory effects by blocking the conversion of pregnenolone to progesterone. In these experiments, treatment with exogenous progesterone could overcome the epostane-mediated inhibition of ovulation. Furthermore, progesterone antiserum administration also inhibited ovulation in rats [130].

A critical characteristic of granulosa cells exposed to the preovulatory LH surge is the ability to produce large amounts of progesterone. Prior to the LH surge, progesterone production by preovulatory follicles is low. The progesterone receptor is also a key participant in the ovulatory process. The LH surge induces progesterone receptor gene expression in rat [131] and mouse [132] preovulatory follicles in a time course similar to that of COX-2. Targeted mutation of the progesterone receptor revealed a critical role of

progesterone receptor signaling in the ovulatory process, as mice deficient in the progesterone receptor fail to ovulate [133]. Further evaluation of progesterone receptordeficient mice revealed that following hCG administration, the ovaries contained unruptured preovulatory follicles, containing intact healthy mature oocytes, that had undergone all the necessary stages of follicular development. It was postulated that the progesterone receptor may be required for the final stages of ovulation, including the breakdown of the follicle wall by proteolytic enzymes [134].

Results in the bovine also support a potential role for progesterone receptor signaling pathways in the control of bovine follicle rupture. Progesterone receptor mRNA is expressed by bovine preovulatory follicles and is transiently increased following the LH surge. Progesterone receptor mRNA in the granulosa layer of bovine follicles was dramatically increased within 6 h following GnRH injection [135]. Therefore, the progesterone receptor signaling pathway which is required for ovulation in rodents may also play a role in the regulation of MMPs/TIMPs and ovulation in the bovine.

Structural changes. Structural changes in the extracellular matrix (ECM) can also regulate MMP expression. Degradation of the ECM liberates binding proteins and growth factors that are bound to ECM components, such as fibroblast growth factor (FGF), platelet derived growth factor (PDGF), and transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), to name a few. PDGF, which is present in the capillary lumina at the apices of preovulatory follicles just before ovulation, has been shown to stimulate proMMP-1 production by aortic smooth muscle cells and skin fibroblasts [136, 137]. Furthermore, it is possible that the integrity of the basement membrane may regulate collagenase expression. Keratinocytes, *in vivo*, only express MMP-1 when they are not in contact

with an intact basement membrane [138]. Findings of Sudbeck et al suggest that reestablishment of the basement membrane at the completion of wound closure mediates down-regulation of MMP-1 expression [139]. Thus, ECM component interactions mediate functionally distinct cellular activities.

Summary

Extensive extracellular matrix remodeling occurs in many physiological and pathological processes and is largely mediated by the matrix metalloproteinases. Ovulation and subsequent corpus luteum formation involve the cyclic process of follicle rupture and controlled tissue degradation followed by further cellular remodeling and tissue repair. A delicate balance exists between the MMPs and their ability to digest specific ECM components and the TIMPs and their capacity to provide a homeostasis that prevents overproduction and unrestrained activity of MMPs.

Early studies of ovulation focused primarily on the endocrine control of periovulatory follicle maturation and the hormonal stimulation involved in ovulation. In more recent years, the cellular mechanisms and biochemical signals involved in the ovulatory process have gained increased attention. Specifically, the proteolysis theory of ovulation focusing on the morphological changes occurring at the follicle apex as the result of enzymatic degradation has become the accepted theory of ovulation. A growing body of evidence indicates that MMPs, regulated by TIMPs, play a key role in degradation of the follicle wall and subsequent follicle rupture.

A further knowledge of the mechanisms whereby the LH surge regulates specific MMPs and TIMPs may increase our understanding of the ovulatory process and the control of ECM remodeling. The experiments presented in the following chapters were

designed to contribute new information regarding the temporal and spatial localization and regulation of mRNA and activity for specific MMPs (MMP-1, -2, -13 and -14) and TIMPs (TIMP 1-3) during the ovulatory process in a model system (bovine) relevant to both animal agriculture and human health and infertility.

Chapter II

Materials and Methods

Materials and Methods

Animal Care

All procedures described where animals were used were approved by the All University Committee on Animal Use and Care at Michigan State University (Protocol # 04/98-056-00).

Experimental Model

Follicle development and timing of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge were synchronized in lactating Holstein cows at greater than 60 days postpartum using the Ovsynch procedure (GnRH-7d-PGF_{2 α}-36h-GnRH; Figure 8) [140]. Briefly, GnRH is injected to start a new wave of follicle growth and thus a new dominant follicle. Seven days later, $PGF_{2\alpha}$ is given to regress corpora lutea. A second GnRH injection is given 36 h later to induce a LH surge resulting in ovulation of the dominant follicle an average of 28 hours later [141]. Daily ultrasound analyses were performed after the first GnRH injection until the time of follicle collection to verify follicle synchrony and to exclude animals that turned over a new follicular wave prior to the second GnRH injection. Ovaries containing ovulatory follicles or new CL were collected by colpotomy at 0, 6, 12, 18, 24 and 48 h (CL) after the second GnRH injection (n = 5-8 per timepoint). Blood samples were collected at the time of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ injection and at the time of the second GnRH injection (Figure 9). Serum progesterone concentrations in these samples were measured by RIA (Diagnostic Products Corporation, Los Angeles, CA) to ensure that all

EXPERIMENTAL MODEL



Figure 8: Experimental model used for collection of preovulatory follicles (0, 6, 12, 18, and 24 h) and CL (48 h) at specific time points relative to a GnRH-induced LH surge.



Figure 9: Representative serum LH and progesterone profile for a cow that was synchronized for follicle collection 18 h following a GnRH-induced LH surge.

animals responded to $PGF_{2\alpha}$ injection. Assay of serum progesterone levels at the time of $PGF_{2\alpha}$ injection revealed levels indicative of a functional corpus luteum. At the time of the second GnRH injection, progesterone levels were below 1 ng/ml in all animals included in the study, indicative of a regressing corpus luteum. Intraassay and interassay coefficients of variation for the progesterone radioimmunoassay were 5.6 and 9.1% respectively. To exclude any animals that exhibited a preovulatory gonadotropin surge prior to the second GnRH injection, three blood samples at 15-min intervals were collected every 8 h beginning 16 h after PGF_{2 α} injection until the time of ovariectomy or GnRH injection. In order to confirm that a LH surge was elicited by the second GnRH injection, blood samples were also collected every hour for 4 h after the second GnRH injection. Concentrations of serum LH in the above samples were measured by RIA [142, 143]. For all animals included in the study, a premature LH surge was not detected in any of the animals in the 0 h (pre-gonadotropin surge) group. A LH surge was detected 1-2 h after GnRH injection for all animals in the post-surge groups (6, 12, 18, 24 and 48 h), verifying control of timing of the gonadotropin surge in our model system (Figure 9). Intraassay and interassay coefficients of variation for the LH radioimmunoassay were 5.8 and 15.6%.

Tissue Collection

For mRNA quantification and enzyme activity assays, ovaries containing the ovulatory follicle or new CL were collected at 0, 6, 12, 18, 24 and 48 h (n = 5-8 each) following the second GnRH injection. Following ovariectomy, the ovulatory follicle or new CL was isolated by cutting away all remaining ovarian stroma and small follicles such that the

ultrastructure at the apex of the follicle remained intact. Follicular fluid was aspirated, centrifuged, aliquoted and stored at -20°C until activity assays. Follicles were then sagitally cut in half so that each half contained the apex and base. One half was used for total RNA isolation. For protein analysis, the remaining half was cut transversely in two equal pieces, one containing the follicle apex and one the base. New CL collected 48 h post GnRH injection were only used for mRNA analyses. Samples were frozen at -80° C within 15 min of ovariectomy. For in situ hybridization, ovaries containing the ovulatory follicles were collected at 0, 12, and 24 h (n = 3 each) following GnRH injection. Ovulatory follicles were dissected from the ovary, immediately immersed in embedding medium, frozen over liquid nitrogen vapors, and stored at -80° C until sectioned. Twelve micrometer frozen sections were cut at -20 °C and mounted onto positively charged slides (Superfrost/Plus; Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA). Slides were then stored in an airtight box at -80 °C until hybridization.

Generation of cDNAs

Bovine complementary DNAs (cDNA) were generated by the reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) using bovine corpus luteum RNA and nucleotide primers (~20 nucleotides in length) corresponding to 100% conserved sequences present in the nucleotide sequence of analogous human and rat cDNAs. A 416 bp partial cDNA encoding bovine MMP-2 [corresponding to nucleotides 1317 to 1733 of human MMP-2 cDNA (Genbank accession #AJ243311.1)] and a 360 bp partial cDNA encoding bovine MMP-14 [corresponding to nucleotides 599 to 959 of human MMP-14 cDNA (Genbank accession #XM033440.1)] were ligated into pBluescript plasmids (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA) and subjected to fluorescent dye terminator sequencing to verify identity and determine orientation. A 289 bp fragment of an ovine TIMP-2 cDNA [99], a 309 bp fragment of an ovine TIMP-1 cDNA [60], and a 340 bp fragment of an ovine TIMP-3 cDNA [144] were used for detection of bovine TIMP-1, TIMP-2, and TIMP-3 mRNA in the present studies.

To generate bovine MMP-1 and MMP-13 cDNAs, a 356 bp partial cDNA encoding MMP-1 [corresponding to nucleotides 632 to 988 of human MMP-1 cDNA (Genbank accession #XM 040735.1)] and a 376 bp partial cDNA encoding MMP-13 [corresponding to nucleotides 900 to 1275 of human MMP-13 cDNA (Genbank accession #XM 040746.1)] were ligated into pBluescript plasmids (Strategene, La Jolla, CA) and subjected to fluorescent dye terminator sequencing to verify identity and determine orientation. A second 334 bp MMP-1 partial cDNA encoding a portion of MMP-1 upstream of the previously mentioned MMP-1 cDNA [corresponding to nucleotides 175 to 508 of human MMP-1 cDNA (Genbank accession #NM 002421.2)] was also generated for use in subsequent experiments.

Characterization of mRNA Abundance

Total RNA was isolated using the Trizol reagent (Life Technologies, Inc., Gaithersburg, MD) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Poly A^+ RNA was isolated from the total RNA according to the manufacturer's instructions (Boehringer Mannheim, Indianapolis, IN) to increase sensitivity for MMP-13 Northern blots. To determine transcript size and number and to optimize specificity of hybridization conditions, approximately 15 µg pooled total RNA or 6 µg poly A^+ RNA (MMP-13) from each sample per time point was subjected to electrophoresis through 1% agarose-formaldehyde gels. RNA was then capillary transferred to nylon membranes (BioRad, Richmond, CA)

and UV crosslinked. For quantification of mRNA abundance, 5-6 µg total RNA (6 µg MMP-1, 5 µg all others) isolated from each sample were spotted in duplicate onto nylon membranes (Zetaprobe, BioRad, Richmond, CA) using a dot blot apparatus (BioRad, Richmond, CA). Membranes were allowed to air dry and then UV crosslinked.

Specific ³²P-labeled MMP-2, MMP-14, TIMP-2, MMP-1, MMP-13, TIMP-1, TIMP-3, and ribosomal protein L-19 (RPL-19) cDNA probes were prepared by PCR with α -[³²P] dCTP (3000Ci/mMol; Dupont/New England Nuclear, Wilmington, DE) [145]. RPL-19 was used for normalization purposes. Each PCR mix contained 1X PCR buffer, 2.5 mM MgCl₂, 1.55 μ M dNTPs (minus dCTP), 1.5 units of Taq polymerase (Life Technologies, Inc., Gaithersburg, MD), 0.25 μ M of each primer, 5 μ l α -[³²P] dCTP and 100 pg of template. PCR conditions were as follows: 95°C 5 min, 40 cycles of [94°C 30s, 54°C 1 min, 72°C 1.5 min], 72°C 10 min. After amplification, the unincorporated ³²P was removed by spun column chromatography through G-50 Sephadex (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) minicolumns [146].

Membranes were prehybridized at 42° C overnight in either 50% formamide, 5X SSC (Saline-sodium citrate buffer; 1X is 0.15 M NaCl and 0.015 M sodium citrate, pH 7.0), 5X Denhardt's (1X is 0.02% Ficoll, 0.02% polyvinylpyrrolidone, 0.02% BSA), 50 mM NaPO₄, 0.1% SDS, and 250 µg herring sperm DNA/ml prehybridization buffer or Ambion Ultrahyb buffer (Ambion, Austin, TX) containing 250 µg herring sperm DNA/ml (MMP-13). Subsequent hybridizations took place at 42° C for 18 h in 50%

formamide, 5X SSC, 1X Denhardt's, 20 mM NaPO₄, 0.1% SDS, 10% dextran sulfate, or Ambion Ultrahyb (MMP-13) with the addition of 100 µg herring sperm DNA/ml hybridization buffer and > 1 x 10^{6} cpm/ml ³²P-labeled cDNA. Membranes were washed in 1X SSC, 0.1% SDS, 0.1% sodium pyrophosphate for 20 min at 42°C followed by one 20 min wash in 0.1X SSC, 0.1% SDS, 0.1% sodium pyrophosphate at 42°C, one 20 min wash at 47°C and one 20 min wash at 50°C. Following washing, filters were exposed to a phosphoimager cassette. After exposure (2-24 h) the cassette was scanned using a phosphoimager (BioRad, Hercules, CA). After Northern analyses, size of RNA transcripts was determined based on relative migration of RNA molecular weight markers (Roche, Indianapolis, IN). After hybridizations for each specific MMP or TIMP, the membranes were then stripped and reprobed with the ³²P RPL-19 cDNA. Preliminary experiments demonstrated that RPL-19 mRNA abundance in bovine preovulatory follicles and new CL is not regulated by the gonadotropin surge (P > 0.05). Relative densitometric units for MMP-2, MMP-14, TIMP-2, MMP-1, TIMP-1, and TIMP-3, were quantitated and adjusted relative to RPL-19 mRNA expression using Molecular Analyst Version 1.5 software (BioRad, Hercules, CA). Preliminary Northern blot experiments demonstrated that hybridization and washing conditions used in subsequent dot blot analyses were specific and yielded hybridization to single transcripts of the expected size for each mRNA of interest. Preliminary experiments also demonstrated that an increase in hybridization intensity was detected following hybridization of each cDNA to increasing amounts of sample RNA $(1-10 \mu g)$.

Semi-quantitative multiplex RT-PCR

Relative levels of MMP-13 mRNA in periovulatory follicular and luteal RNA samples were determined by semiquantitative multiplex RT-PCR analysis as described by Kurebayashi, et al [147]. A 1 µg aliquot of each RNA sample was treated with RNase free DNase I (Life Technologies, Gaithersburg, MD) and a 91 ng fraction was utilized in first strand cDNA synthesis with Superscript II reverse transcriptase according to the manufacturer's instructions. Synthesized cDNA was then used as a template for coamplification of a 245 bp partial cDNA for bovine MMP-13 and a 360 bp cDNA encoding for a housekeeping control gene (bovine RPL-19). Negative control cDNA synthesis reactions were conducted in the absence of reverse transcriptase and used as template in PCR to verify absence of genomic DNA contamination. Ratios of primer sets between MMP-13 and RPL-19 and number of cycles were determined to amplify both products logarithmically at relatively similar efficiencies without competition. PCR reactions for each sample were carried out in duplicate. A portion of each reaction was run on an agarose gel and following ethidium bromide staining, intensity of amplified products was determined with image analysis software (Quantity One, BioRad Laboratories, Hercules, CA). Preliminary experiments were conducted to verify a linear relationship between amount of product loaded on gel and density detected with the image analysis program. Relative expression levels are reported as the density of the amplification product for MMP-13 divided by that of the housekeeping gene from the same cDNA. Data are reported as % increase in expression levels over 0 h (pre gonadotropin surge) samples. Intra and interassay coefficients of variation were < 6%.

In Situ Hybridization

Messenger RNAs for MMP-2, MMP-14, TIMP-1, TIMP-2, and TIMP-3 were localized by in situ hybridization in follicles collected at 0, 12, and 24 h following GnRH injection (n = 3 per time point). Before hybridization, mounted sections were fixed in 4% formalin for 5 min, acetylated in 0.25% acetic anhydride in 0.1M triethanolamine (pH 8) for 20 min, and dehydrated in ethanol before hybridization. Hybridizations were carried out on three serial sections for each probe on each tissue sample and done in triplicate.

Both antisense and sense [³⁵S] (MMP-2, MMP-14, TIMP-1, TIMP-2) or [³³P] (TIMP-3) UTP-labeled cRNA probes were transcribed from linearized cDNA templates using a transcription kit (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The cRNA probes were purified by centrifugation on a Sephadex G-50 column (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) and used for hybridization within 24 h. For hybridization, the labeled probes were diluted in hybridization buffer [50% formamide, 0.3 M NaCl, 10 mM Tris (pH 8), 1 mM EDTA, 1X Denhardt's solution, 10 mM dithiothreitol, 500 µg/ml yeast transfer RNA, and 10% dextran sulfate] to 12,500 cpm/µl. Hybridization was performed using 80 µl (1 million cpm) diluted probe per slide in a humidified oven at 55°C for 18 h. After hybridization, slides were washed twice in 2X SSC for 15 min each at room temperature and treated with ribonuclease-A (50 µg/ml) for 30 min at 37[°]C. Slides were then washed at 55[°]C in 2X SSC/ 0.1% βmercaptoethanol (β -me) for 15 min, 1X SSC/0.1% β -me for 15 min, 1X SSC/50% formamide/ 0.1% \beta-me for 30 min, and 0.1X SSC/0.1% β-me for 30 min. The slides were then dehydrated, air dried, dipped in Kodak NTB-2 emulsion (Eastman Kodak,

Rochester, NY) and exposed for 4 days (MMP-2), two days (TIMP-1 and TIMP-2), or two weeks (MMP-14 and TIMP-3) at 4° C. The slides were then developed, lightly counterstained with hematoxylin and eosin, and coverslipped for microscopic examination.

Preparation of Follicle Homogenates

Follicles were homogenized using procedures previously described by Murdoch [17]. Briefly, the apical or basal sections of follicles were homogenized using a polytron homogenizer (Fisher Scientific, Chicago, IL) in 800 μ l of homogenization buffer [10 mM CaCl₂, 0.25% Triton X-100], then centrifuged at 9,000 x g for 30 min at 4°C. The supernatants were removed and hereafter referred to as Triton extracts. Each pellet was resuspended in 200 μ l of resuspension buffer [50 mM Tris (pH 7.6), 100 mM CaCl₂, 0.15 M NaCl] and heated for 10 min at 60°C followed by centrifugation at 27,000 x g for 30

min at 4°C. Supernatants were removed and hereafter referred to as heat extracts.

Gelatin Zymography/Reverse Zymography

Gelatin zymography was performed for semi-quantitative analysis of gelatinolytic activity in follicular fluid and follicle extracts. Follicular fluid (0.25 μ l) as well as proteins in triton (80 μ g/lane) and heat (20 μ g/lane) extracts from the apex and base of each follicle were subjected to electrophoresis in duplicate on one-dimensional SDS-polyacrylamide gels containing 0.25% (w/v) gelatin. All samples in a given experimental group (i.e. triton apex or heat base) were run together on a given day. Protein concentration for each sample was determined using a Micro BCA Protein Assay Reagent Kit (Pierce, Rockford, IL). Follicular fluid was treated as a bodily fluid and

loaded by volume; however, follicular fluid protein concentrations in each sample were measured, and variation in protein concentration was < 10%. Following electrophoresis, gels were incubated in 2.5% (v/v) Triton X-100 to remove SDS. Gels were rinsed and incubated overnight in 50 mM Tris (pH 7.5), 5 mM CaCl₂, and 0.02% NaN₃ with or without 1,10 phenanthroline (final concentration 0.05 mM) at 37°C. Gels were then stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue for 1 h to visualize clear bands of digested gelatin representing gelatinolytic activity. Gels were photographed using a Gel Documentation System (BioRad, Hercules, CA). Area of degradation was measured using Molecular Analyst Version 1.5 software (BioRad, Hercules, CA) to derive individual estimates of MMP-2 activity. A pooled follicular fluid standard was run on each gel and used to calculate intrassay coefficients of variation (gel to gel variation) for analysis of each set of samples. Intraassay coefficients of variation were all < to 1.5 %. All gelatinolytic activity was inhibited when 1,10 phenanthroline was included in the incubation buffer. To confirm that gelatinolytic activity detected corresponded primarily to MMP-2, recombinant proMMP-2 as well as a combined MMP-2/MMP-9 standard (Oncogene Research Products, Cambridge, MA) were run with each group of samples analyzed. Activity for MMP-2 co-migrated with appropriate standards. To further confirm that the majority of activity detected represented the latent form of MMP-2, selected samples and MMP-2 standards were subjected to organomercurial activation by incubation in 50 mM Tris (pH 7.5), 5 mM CaCl₂, 1 mM aminophenylmercuric acetate for 30 min at 37°C prior to gelatin zymographic analysis. Preliminary experiments established optimal incubation

time and demonstrated that increasing activity was detected when increasing amounts of sample protein were loaded on gels.

Reverse zymography was performed to characterize effects of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge on TIMP-1, TIMP-2, and TIMP-3 activity. Triton extracts (80 μ g/lane), heat extracts (15 μ g/lane), and follicular fluid (2 μ l/lane) samples were subjected to electrophoresis in one dimensional SDS polyacrylamide gels containing 0.6 % gelatin and 400 μ l of BHK cell conditioned media (source of gelatinases). Standards for TIMP-1, TIMP-2, and TIMP-3 (University Technologies International, Calgary, Alberta, Canada) were run with each set of samples analyzed. Activity corresponding to TIMP-1 and TIMP-2 migrated similarly to the respective standards. Preliminary experiments established optimal incubation times and demonstrated that increasing activity was detected when increasing amounts of sample protein were loaded on reverse zymography gels.

Statistical Analyses

Differences in mRNA abundance and enzyme activity were determined by one-way analysis of variance using the General Linear Models procedure of the Statistical Analysis System (SAS; Version 8.0). Semiquanitiative RT-PCR values were evaluated after being subjected to arcsin transformation. Individual comparisons of mean RNA concentrations were performed using Fisher's Protected Least Significant Differences test and results are reported as mean \pm SEM.

Chapter III

Effect of the Preovulatory Gonadotropin Surge on Matrix Metalloproteinase-14,

Matrix Metalloproteinase-2, and Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinases-2

Expression Within Bovine Periovulatory Follicular and Luteal Tissue

Abstract

The matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) have been implicated in the ovulatory process, but the specific roles of individual MMPs are unclear. This study examined the effect of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge on localization and regulation of MMP-2, MMP-14 and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-2 (TIMP-2) mRNA and MMP-2 and TIMP-2 activity in bovine preovulatory follicles and new corpora lutea (CL). Samples were collected at approximately 0, 6, 12, 18, 24 and 48 h (CL) after a GnRH-induced gonadotropin surge. Messenger RNA for TIMP-2 and MMP-14 increased within 6 and 24 h of the gonadotropin surge respectively, while MMP-2 mRNA was constitutively expressed. Activity for MMP-2 in follicular fluid and follicle homogenates was not changed, but follicular fluid TIMP-2 activity increased in response to the gonadotropin surge. Messenger RNA for MMP-2 was localized to the theca layer of bovine preovulatory follicles, whereas MMP-14 mRNA was localized primarily to the theca layer and adjacent ovarian stroma. Expression of MMP-14 was also observed in the granulosa layer after the gonadotropin surge. In contrast, TIMP-2 mRNA was localized predominantly to the granulosa layer with intense expression in the antral portion of the granulosa layer in response to the gonadotropin surge. These data support the hypothesis that increased expression of MMP-14 and TIMP-2 may help regulate follicle rupture and (or) the ovulatory follicle/corpus luteum transition in cattle.

Introduction

Rupture of a mature ovarian follicle and subsequent release of a viable oocyte are prerequisites for reproductive success. Numerous studies have implicated the matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) as important mediators of ovulation and subsequent corpus luteum (CL) formation [56, 148]. The MMPs are a large gene family of > 26 metal dependent enzymes that digest specific components (collagens, laminin, fibronectin, and proteoglycans) of the extracellular matrix (ECM) and are noted for their role in cell remodeling, extracellular matrix degradation, and tissue repair [149, 150]. The collagenous layers in the theca externa, tunica albuginea, and surface epithelium at the follicle apex must be degraded for a follicle to rupture. Furthermore, breakdown of the basement membrane, which separates the granulosa and theca cells and contains primarily type IV collagen, is required for release of the oocyte. Administration of synthetic MMP inhibitors blocks ovulation [72, 151]. However, the specific MMPs required for follicle rupture are not known.

The membrane type-MMPs have been termed as possible "master switches" that control ECM remodeling [52]. Membrane type 1-MMP (MMP-14) is noted both for its ability to activate other MMPs (MMP-2, MMP-13) and focalize their activity to the cell surface and for its own capacity to degrade numerous ECM substrates [53-55]. Matrix metalloproteinase-14 has been shown to activate progelatinase A (MMP-2) and localize its activity in a complex with tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-2 (TIMP-2) at the cell surface [53]. MMP-14 may also play a direct role in degradation of the preovulatory follicle wall via its ability to cleave type I and III collagen, fibronectin, laminin, and proteoglycans [54]. However, the specific role of MMP-14 in mediating follicle rupture is unknown.

The specific functions of MMP-2 and TIMP-2 during the periovulatory period are also unclear. Matrix metalloproteinase-2 has been proposed to play an important role in degradation of the basement membrane that separates the granulosa cells from the theca cells, and it also likely further hydrolyzes the denatured collagen fibrils in the follicle wall following their initial cleavage by a collagenase. In addition to its potential role in proMMP-2 activation and focalization of MMP-2 activity at the cell surface, TIMP-2 is most known for its ability to bind MMPs in a 1:1 stoichiometry and inhibit their activity.

The regulation of MMP-2 and TIMP-2 during the periovulatory period is also species specific. Matrix metalloproteinase-2 mRNA and enzyme activity are increased in rat ovaries following an ovulatory dose of hCG [64, 152], whereas expression in mouse ovaries in response to an ovulatory stimulus is constitutive [58]. TIMP-2 expression is constitutive in rat [97] and mouse [58, 95] ovaries and sheep preovulatory follicles [99] following an ovulatory stimulus, but is increased in macaque granulosa cells [66].

As an initial step toward elucidating the physiological roles of MMP-14, MMP-2, and TIMP-2 in the ovulatory process, we characterized the effect of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge on localization and regulation of MMP-2, MMP-14 and TIMP-2 mRNA and MMP-2 and TIMP-2 activity in bovine preovulatory follicles and new CL. Results presented here support the hypothesis that increased expression of MMP-14 and TIMP-2 may help regulate follicle rupture and (or) the ovulatory follicle/corpus luteum transition in cattle.

Results

Effect of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge on MMP-14 mRNA abundance and localization

Relative abundance of MMP-14 mRNA in bovine periovulatory follicular and luteal tissue was regulated by the preovulatory gonadotropin surge. The MMP-14 cDNA hybridized specifically to a 3.1 kb transcript present within bovine periovulatory follicles and new CL (Figure 10). Expression of MMP-14 mRNA was increased in preovulatory follicles within 24 h of the gonadotropin surge and remained elevated in new CL (24 and 48 h versus 0 h; P < 0.01). Matrix metalloproteinase-14 mRNA was localized primarily to the theca layer and adjacent ovarian stroma of bovine preovulatory follicles. However, significant hybridization was also observed in the granulosa layer at the 12 and 24 h time points (Figure 11).

Effect of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge on bovine periovulatory follicular MMP-2 mRNA and enzyme activity

In contrast to the ontogeny of MMP-14 mRNA observed above, expression of MMP-2 mRNA was not regulated by the preovulatory gonadotropin surge. The bovine MMP-2 cDNA hybridized specifically to a 2.7 kb transcript (Figure 12). Expression of MMP-2 mRNA was not different at any of the time points evaluated (P > 0.05). MMP-2 mRNA was localized primarily to the surrounding theca layer of bovine preovulatory follicles (Figure 13). Likewise, bovine follicular MMP-2 activity was not regulated by the preovulatory gonadotropin surge. Relative levels of MMP-2 activity in follicular fluid (Figure 14) and follicle extracts (triton and heat extracts, apex and base; Figures 15-18) were not different at any of the time points examined (0, 6, 12, 18, 24 h after GnRH

قرمونده زرمان



Figure 10: Effect of a GnRH-induced gonadotropin surge on MMP-14 mRNA abundance in bovine periovulatory follicular and luteal tissue A) Northern analysis of MMP-14 mRNA expression: Note hybridization to single 3.1 kb transcript. B) Effect of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge on relative levels of MMP-14 mRNA in bovine periovulatory follicles and new CL. Data are expressed as relative units MMP-14 mRNA per unit RPL-19 mRNA. Data shown as mean \pm SE. Time points without a common superscript are different at P < 0.05.





Figure 11: In situ localization of MMP-14 mRNA within bovine periovulatory follicles collected at 0, 12 and 24 h after GnRH injection (Magnification 120X). A) Bright-field micrograph of a preovulatory follicle collected at the 0 h timepoint and stained with hematoxylin and eosin. B) Dark-field micrograph of the same section hybridized with a 35 S antisense MMP-14 cRNA C) Dark-field micrograph of the same section hybridized with a 35 S antisense MMP-14 cRNA C) Dark-field micrograph of the same follicle hybridized with a 35 S ense MMP-14 cRNA. D, G) Similar to A except preovulatory follicle collected at 12 and 24 h, respectively. E, H) Similar to B except preovulatory follicle collected at 12 and 24 h, respectively. F, J Similar to Except preovulatory follicle collected at 12 and 24 h, respectively. F, J Similar to Except preovulatory follicle collected at 12 and 24 h, respectively. F, J Similar to Except preovulatory follicle collected at 12 and 24 h, respectively. F, J Similar to Except preovulatory follicle collected at 12 and 24 h, respectively. F, J Similar to Except preovulatory follicle collected at 12 and 24 h, respectively. F, J Similar to Except preovulatory follicle collected at 12 and 24 h, respectively. F, J Similar to Except preovulatory follicle collected at 12 and 24 h, respectively. F, J Similar to Except preovulatory follicle collected at 21 and 24 h, respectively. F, J Similar to Except preovulatory follicle collected at 21 and 24 h, respectively. F, J Similar to Except preovulatory follicle collected at 21 and 24 h, respectively. F, J Similar to Except preovulatory follicle collected at 21 and 24 h, respectively. F, J Similar to Except preovulatory follicle collected at 21 and 24 h, respectively. F, J Similar to Except preovulatory follicle collected at 21 and 24 h, and 24 h hore Similar to Except preovulatory follicle collected at 20 hore Similar to Except preovulatory follicle collected at 20 hore Similar to Except preovulatory follice collected at 20 hore Similar to Excep



Figure 12: Effect of a GnRH-induced gonadotropin surge on MMP-2 mRNA abundance in bovine periovulatory follicular and luteal tissue A) Northern analysis of MMP-2 mRNA expression: Note hybridization to single 2.7 kb transcript. B) Effect of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge on relative levels of MMP-2 mRNA in bovine periovulatory follicles and new CL. Data are expressed as relative units MMP-2 mRNA per unit RPL-19 mRNA (n = 6 per timepoint). Data shown as mean \pm SE. Expression of MMP-2 mRNA in bovine periovulatory follicles was not increased following the gonadotropin surge (P > 0.05).





Figure 13: In situ localization of MMP-2 mRNA within bovine periovulatory follicles collected at 0, 12 and 24 h after GnRH injection (Magnification 120X). A) Bright-field micrograph of a preovulatory follicle collected at the 0 h timepoint and stained with hematoxylin and eosin. B) Dark-field micrograph of the same section hybridized with a 35 S antisense MMP-2 cRNA C) Dark-field micrograph of the same section calculated at the 0 h timepoint to A cacept preovulatory follicle collected at 12 and 24 h, respectively. E, H) Similar to A except preovulatory follicle collected at 12 and 24 h, respectively. F, I) Similar to C except preovulatory follicle collected at 12 and 24 h, respectively (m = 3 follicles per timepoint). Note highest expression of MMP-2 mRNA in the theca layer.



Figure 14: Gelatin zymographic analysis of MMP-2 activity in bovine periovulatory follicular fluid. A) Representative zymogram demonstrating MMP-2 activity in follicular fluid of bovine periovulatory follicles. B) Semiquantitative analysis of MMP-2 activity in follicular fluid of bovine periovulatory follicles collected at 0, 6, 12, 18, and 24 h after GnRH injection. Note prominent activity of approximately 72,000 Mr corresponding to the proform of MMP-2. Data depicted as mean \pm SE (n = 6 per timepoint). Addition of 1,10 phenanthroline to incubation buffer inhibited all gelatinase activity. Matrix metalloproteinase-2 activity in periovulatory follicular fluid was not increased following the gonadotropin surge (P > 0.05).









Figure 15: Gelatin zymographic analysis of MMP-2 activity in bovine follicle apex heat extracts. A) Representative zymogram demonstrating MMP-2 activity in poole follicle apex heat extracts collected at 0, 6, 12, 18, and 24 h after GnRH injection. (n = 6 per timepoint) Note prominent activity of approximately 72,000 Mr corresponding to the proform of MMP-2. B) Representative zymogram demonstrating inhibition of MMP-2 activity in the presence of 1, 10 phenanthroline. Combined MMP-2/MMP-9 standards were included on each gel (Stds). Matrix metalloproteinase-2 activity in apex heat extracts was not increased following the gonadotropin surge (P > 0.05).



Hours Post GnRH Injection



Hours Post GnRH Injection

Figure 16: Gelatin zymographic analysis of MMP-2 activity in bovine follicle base heat extracts. A) Representative zymogram demonstrating MMP-2 activity in pooled follicle base heat extracts collected at 0, 6, 12, 18, and 24 h after GnRH injection (n = 6 per timepoint). Note prominent activity of approximately 72,000 Mr corresponding to the proform of MMP-2. B) Representative zymogram demonstrating inhibition of MMP-2 activity in the presence of 1, 10 phenanthroline. Combined MMP-2/MMP-9 standards were included on each gel (Stds). Matrix metalloproteinase-2 activity in base heat extracts was not increased following the gonadotropin surge (P > 0.05).


Hours Post GnRH Injection



Hours Post GnRH Injection

Figure 17: Gelatin zymographic analysis of MMP-2 activity in bovine follicle apex triton extracts. A) Representative zymogram demonstrating MMP-2 activity in pooled follicle apex triton extracts collected at 0, 6, 12, 18, and 24 h after GnRH injection. (n = 6 per timepoint) Note prominent activity of approximately 72,000 Mr corresponding to the proform of MMP-2. B) Representative zymogram demonstrating inhibition of MMP-2 activity in the presence of 1, 10 phenanthroline. Combined MMP-2/MMP-9 standards were included on each gel (Stds). Matrix metalloproteinase-2 activity in the xtracts was not increased following the gonadotropin surge (P > 0.05).



Hours Post GnRH Injection



Hours Post GnRH Injection

Figure 18: Gelatin zymographic analysis of MMP-2 activity in bovine follicle base triton extracts. A) Representative zymogram demonstrating MMP-2 activity in pooled follicle base triton extracts collected at 0, 6, 12, 18, and 24 h after GnRH injection. (n = 6 per timepoint) Note prominent activity of approximately 72,000 Mr corresponding to the proform of MMP-2. B) Representative zymogram demonstrating inhibition of MMP-2 activity in the presence of 1, 10 phenanthroline. Combined MMP-2/MMP-9 standards were included on each gel (Stds). Matrix metalloproteinase-2 activity in base triton extracts was not increased following the gonadotropin surge (P > 0.05). injection; P > 0.05). The latent form of MMP-2 was the predominant form detected in both follicular fluid (Figure 14) and follicle homogenates (Figures 15-18). Addition of 1.10 phenanthroline to incubation buffer inhibited all gelatinase activity.

Effect of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge on TIMP-2 mRNA and activity

Localization and abundance of TIMP-2 mRNA and TIMP-2 activity were regulated by the preovulatory gonadotropin surge. The TIMP-2 cDNA hybridized specifically to a 1.1 kb transcript (Figure 19). Messenger RNA abundance for TIMP-2 was increased within 6 h of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge and remained elevated throughout the entire periovulatory period (6-48 h; P < 0.05). Messenger RNA for TIMP-2 was localized specifically to the granulosa layer at all time points examined (0, 12 and 24). In follicles collected prior to the gonadotropin surge, expression of TIMP-2 mRNA was prominent in the portion of the granulosa layer proximal to the basement membrane. At subsequent time points, expression was increased in the distal (antral) portion of the granulosa layer. Expression in the theca layer was nondetectable in comparison to the high level of expression detected in the granulosa layer (Figure 20). No obvious differences in TIMP-2 activity were detected in follicle homogenates (triton and heat extracts, apex and base; Figure 21, heat apex depicted) collected before versus after the gonadotropin surge. However, TIMP-2 activity was clearly increased in periovulatory follicular fluid samples collected after the gonadotropin surge (Figure 22).



Figure 19: Effect of a GnRH-induced gonadotropin surge on TIMP-2 mRNA abundance in bovine periovulatory follicular and luteal tissue A) Northern analysis of TIMP-2 mRNA expression: Note hybridization to single 1.1 kb transcript. B) Effect of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge on relative levels of TIMP-2 mRNA in bovine periovulatory follicles and new CL. Data are expressed as relative units TIMP-2 mRNA per unit RPL-19 mRNA. Data shown as mean \pm SE (n = 6 per time point). Time points without a common superscript are different at P < 0.05.



12 24

Hours Post GnRH Injection

Figure 20: In situ localization of TIMP-2 mRNA within bovine periovulatory follicles collected at 0, 12 and 24 h after GnRH injection (Magnification 120X). A) Bright-field micrograph of a preovulatory follicle collected at the 0 h timepoint and stained with hematoxylin and eosin. B) Dark-field micrograph of the same section hybridized with a ³⁵S antisense TIMP-2 cRNA C) Dark-field micrograph of adjacent serial section of the same follicle hybridized with a ³⁵S sense TIMP-2 cRNA. D, G) Similar to A except preovulatory follicle collected at 12 and 24 h, respectively. E, H) Similar to B except preovulatory follicle collected at 12 and 24 h, respectively. F. I) Similar to C except preovulatory follicle collected at 12 and 24 h. respectively (n = 3 follicles per time point). Note localization of TIMP-2 mRNA specifically to the granulosa layer at above time points, with the highest expression in the granulosa cells adjacent to the basement membrane at 0 h and additional expression in the antral portion of the granulosa layer at 12 and 24 h after GnRH injection.



Figure 21: Representative reverse zymographic analysis of TIMP-2 activity in bovine follicle homogenates collected at 0, 6, 12, 18, and 24 h after GnRH injection (apex heat depicted; n = 6 per timepoint).



Figure 22: Detection of TIMP-2 activity in bovine periovulatory follicular fluid. Representative reverse zymogram of TIMP-2 activity in follicular fluid of bovine periovulatory follicles collected at 0, 6, 12, 18, and 24 h after GnRH injection (2 μ l follicular fluid per lane, from pooled samples). Note observed increase in follicular fluid TIMP-2 activity in response to the gonadotropin surge.

Discussion

Successful ovulation is necessary for fertilization and reproductive success to occur. The MMPs have been implicated as important mediators of the ovulatory process due to their ability to degrade specific components (collagens, laminin, fibronectin, and proteoglycans) of the follicle wall and regulate ECM remodeling. However, the effect of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge on the intrafollicular localization and regulation of mRNA expression for individual MMPs and their specific requirements for follicle rupture are not well understood.

In the present study, MMP-14 mRNA was increased in bovine preovulatory follicular and luteal tissue following exposure to a gonadotropin surge. Previous studies of MMP-14 mRNA expression in mice (by Northern analysis) demonstrated no change in expression in the ovary following an ovulatory stimulus (hCG injection) [58]. However, these studies in mice were likely compromised by examination of periovulatory regulation of MMP-14 mRNA abundance in the ovary as a whole (including stroma and other nonovulatory follicles). In our studies, periovulatory regulation of MMP-14 mRNA expression was examined specifically in the preovulatory follicle. The spatial regulation of MMP-14 expression observed in bovine preovulatory follicles following the LH surge also was distinct. Expression of MMP-14 mRNA was detected primarily in the theca layer and adjacent ovarian stroma, with expression also detected in the granulosa cells at the 12 and 24 h time points. In rats [63] and mice [58], MMP-14 mRNA is also localized to the theca layer of preovulatory follicles. In mouse and rat preovulatory follicles, but

expression is down regulated in the granulosa layer and increased in the theca layer in response to hCG injection [58, 63].

Although MMP-14 is most often noted for its ability to localize and activate MMP-2, it may contribute to follicular ECM degradation through other mechanisms. Matrix metalloproteinase-14 may be directly involved in degradation of types I and III collagen as well as fibronectin, laminin and proteoglycans [54, 153]. Espey and Lipner [15] postulated that proteinases localized on the cell surface promote cell dissociation and breakdown of the surrounding collagen fibers within the theca externa and tunica albuginea during ovulation. In addition, MMP-14 can indirectly promote degradation of types I and III collagen by its ability to activate procollagenase 3 (MMP-13) [55]. Matrix metalloproteinase-13 mRNA is upregulated in bovine preovulatory follicles following the gonadotropin surge (Chapter IV). Furthermore, MMP-14 is not inhibited by TIMP-1, allowing degradation to occur in the presence of high concentrations of inhibitor [57]. This may be especially significant, given TIMP-1 is dramatically increased in preovulatory follicles of several species in response to the gonadotropin surge [Chapter V; 58, 60-62, 66].

The localization and regulation of TIMP-2 mRNA observed in the present studies in cattle are markedly different than what has been previously reported for other species. In the present study, TIMP-2 mRNA and activity were increased following the preovulatory gonadotropin surge. In contrast, TIMP-2 mRNA is constitutively expressed in ovine, mouse, and rat follicles following an ovulatory stimulus [60, 95, 98]. We previously observed increased expression of TIMP-2 mRNA in preovulatory follicular and luteal tissue collected from beef heifers within 8 and 48 h (CL) of the preovulatory

gonadotropin surge [100], but the localization of TIMP-2 mRNA and changes in TIMP-2 activity were not determined. Furthermore, the localization of TIMP-2 mRNA observed in bovine follicles also was unique. Messenger RNA for TIMP-2 was localized exclusively to the theca layer of ovine follicles [99], and a similar localization has been observed in rats and mice [58, 101]. In contrast, TIMP-2 mRNA was localized specifically to the granulosa layer of bovine preovulatory follicles. The physiological significance of the observed increase in TIMP-2 mRNA expression following the gonadotropin surge in the antral portion of the granulosa layer is not known. Differences in gene expression in specific components of the granulosa layer have been observed previously [154-156].

In the present study, MMP-2 mRNA expression and enzyme activity were unchanged following exposure of bovine follicles to a gonadotropin surge. The effect of an ovulatory stimulus on MMP-2 expression during the periovulatory period appears species specific. Like the cow, expression of MMP-2 mRNA and activity is constitutive during the periovulatory period in the mouse ovary [58]. These results are in contrast to previous studies which report an increase in MMP-2 mRNA and gelatinolytic activity within rat ovaries following exposure to an ovulatory stimulus [64, 152]. While MMP-2 mRNA and activity are reportedly increased in rat ovaries following hCG injection, localization studies have attributed this increase to small and large luteinizing follicles and to CL represented in the whole ovary mRNA preparation [97]. Matrix metalloproteinase-2 mRNA is also increased in preovulatory macaque granulosa cells in response to hCG administration, however, this increase was seen only in two out of the three monkeys evaluated [66]. Furthermore, critical evaluation of each model is

necessary when comparing the single bovine ovulatory follicle to hormonally stimulated multiple ovulatory follicles collected from a species that is naturally monotocous.

The localization of MMP-2 mRNA to the theca layer observed in the present studies is consistent with results of previously published studies in rats and mice [63, 64]. Consistent, significant expression of MMP-2 mRNA in the granulosa layer was not detected in the present studies.

The potential absolute requirement of MMP-2 for follicle rupture and subsequent reproductive success may also be species specific. Gene targeting experiments revealed that a functional MMP-2 gene is not required for successful pregnancy [157]. Potential direct effects of the MMP-2 null mutation on ovulation rate in the MMP-2 knockout mice have not been reported. In contrast, results in sheep indicate that MMP-2 may play a key role in the ovulatory process. The LH surge increases MMP-2 activity in sheep follicular extracts [68], and intrafollicular injection of MMP-2 antibodies can block ovulation [69]. In addition, ewes immunized against the N-terminal peptide of the 43-kDA subunit of α -N inhibin show decreased MMP-2 activity in follicular fluid and an impairment of the ovulatory process [67]. In the bovine, MMP-9 may be the primary mediator of follicular basement membrane breakdown prior to ovulation. Messenger RNA for MMP-9 is increased in bovine preovulatory follicles in response to the gonadotropin surge (Cassar, Bakke and Smith, unpublished data).

While several of the results presented in the current studies appear to be species specific, when comparing the results of any group of studies, it is important to closely examine the model that each investigator uses. When studying possible regulators of the ovulatory process and corpus luteum formation, it is standard procedure to synchronize

an animal's reproductive cycle. While the standard reproductive rodent models use immature, non-cycling animals injected with PMSG and hCG, superstimulation of follicle growth with exogenous gonadotropins is not commonly utilized in models for the study of the ovulatory process in farm animals such as sheep and cows. With the expectation that the ovine model would be more similar to a cow than a rodent model, the distinct regulation of TIMP-2 and MMP-2 in the cow versus the sheep was unanticipated. While sheep are polytocous, it is unclear if this contributes to the differences seen in TIMP-2 or MMP-2 regulation. It is possible that redundancies among MMPs and TIMPs have resulted in species specificity. As was stated previously, MMP-9 (also a gelatinase) may primarily mediate follicular basement membrane breakdown in the bovine, while MMP-2 may play a more dominant role in the sheep. Yet, differences between the bovine and ovine models further substantiate the need for investigation in the specific model system of interest.

In this study we have examined three potential regulators of follicle wall degradation following the LH surge. Considerable species differences were found in terms of localization and regulation of MMP-2, MMP-14 and TIMP-2 in cattle versus previously reported results for other species. Thus, the potential role or absolute requirement of above regulators in the ovulatory process and (or) the ovulatory follicle/corpus luteum transition may be distinct.

In summary, we have shown that the gonadotropin surge results in increased MMP-14 mRNA and TIMP-2 mRNA and activity in bovine preovulatory follicles while MMP-2 mRNA and enzyme activity are constitutively expressed. The intrafollicular localization of MMP-14, MMP-2, and TIMP-2 mRNA expression in bovine preovulatory

follicles was distinct and does not strongly support a potential direct role for TIMP-2 in proMMP-2 activation and localization of MMP-2 activity at the cell surface. However, a role of TIMP-2 of granulosa cell origin in proMMP-2 activation and localization at the cell surface in the theca layer cannot totally be discounted. Our results support the hypothesis that increased expression of MMP-14 and TIMP-2, but not MMP-2 may help regulate follicle rupture and (or) the ovulatory follicle/corpus luteum transition in cattle.

Chapter IV

Differential Upregulation of Interstitial Collagenase (MMP-1) and Collagenase-3 (MMP-13) mRNA Transcripts in Bovine

Periovulatory Follicular and Luteal Tissue Following the LH Surge.

Abstract

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are a large family of metal dependent enzymes that play a role in cell remodeling, extracellular matrix degradation and tissue repair. Numerous studies have implicated MMPs as important mediators of the ovulatory process. Collagenolysis is a prerequisite for ovulation and subsequent corpus luteum (CL) formation considering the oocyte must penetrate three collagen I rich layers of the follicle wall in order to be released. Collagenases are most likely responsible for the initial degradation and unwinding of the triple helical collagen fibers within the follicular apex prior to ovulation. Here we test the hypothesis that the LH surge upregulates collagenase 1 (MMP-1) and collagenase 3 (MMP-13) mRNA expression in bovine periovulatory follicular and luteal tissue. Ovulation was synchronized in dairy cows using Ovsynch (GnRH-7d-PGF2_a-36h-GnRH). Periovulatory follicular and luteal tissue were collected at 0, 6, 12, 18, 24, and 48 h after the 2^{nd} GnRH injection (n = 5-8 per timepoint) and RNA was subjected to Northern analysis and either dot blot or semiquantitative RT-PCR analysis for MMP-1 and MMP-13. Two MMP-1 mRNA species were detected (2.4 and 1.8 kb). Relative levels of MMP-1 mRNA were greater at 6, 12, and 48 h relative to the 0 h (pre-LH surge) timepoint (P < 0.05). Differential upregulation of the 2.4 and 1.8 kb transcripts was observed. Expression of the 2.4 kb transcript was increased at the 6 and 12 h timepoints. In contrast, the 1.8 kb transcript was dramatically upregulated and predominant at 48 h (new CL). Upregulation of the larger transcript was predominant in follicular tissue and may be associated with the ovulatory process, while upregulation of the smaller transcript accompanied CL formation. A single 3.0 kb MMP-13 mRNA transcript was detected in bovine periovulatory follicular tissue. Furthermore, MMP-13 expression was increased at 6 h and then again at 24 h following the LH surge. These results indicate that the LH surge increases expression of MMP-1 and MMP-13 mRNA within bovine periovulatory follicular tissue. Increased expression of MMP-1 and MMP-13 mRNA following the LH surge is supportive of a potential role of these enzymes in the ovulatory process and luteal development.

Introduction

Scientists have been interested in ovulation since 1670 when de Graf first identified ovarian follicles [10]. In 1916, Schochet first suggested that ovulation occurs through extracellular matrix degradation by proteinases [158]. Although the proteolytic enzyme theory of ovulation was firmly established in the 1970s, the identification and subsequent biochemical and functional characterization of the enzymes involved in degradation of the follicle wall is incomplete.

In order for an oocyte to be released from a follicle, it must pass through the many layers of the follicle wall. It first encounters the granulosa cells, which are separated from the theca interna by the type IV collagen rich basement membrane. Next it confronts the theca externa and tunica albuginea, whose dense collagen network (types I and III) provides the tensile strength of the follicle wall. Finally it must pass through the surface epithelium. For a follicle to ovulate, the collagenous layers of the theca externa,

tunica albuginea, and surface epithelium at the follicle apex must be degraded. Immediately prior to ovulation, the surface epithelium detaches from the underlying basement membrane, the concentration of collagen fibrils is decreased, and the follicle wall becomes thinner at the apex [15]. This decrease in collagen is presumed to result from an increase in proteolytic activity with a potentially important role for the collagenases.

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are a large family of > 26 metal dependent enzymes that play a role in cell remodeling, extracellular matrix degradation, and tissue repair [149, 150]. The collagenases MMP-1 (interstitial collagenase) and MMP-13 (collagenase 3) are best noted for their ability to degrade types I, II, and III collagen. In the rat and sheep, an increase in preovulatory collagenolytic activity is seen following the LH surge [17, 159]. While much redundancy is seen among MMPs and their substrates, the collagenases are unique in their ability to cleave the triple helical collagen molecule. Following this initial site-specific cleavage, the fragmented collagen becomes less stable and more soluble as it uncoils [70]. Following denaturation, the collagen products become susceptible to further degradation by other proteinases. Therefore, hormonal regulation of specific members of the collagenase subfamily of MMPs may play a key role in mediating follicle wall degradation prior to ovulation. As an initial step towards understanding the potential role of specific collagenases in follicle rupture, we determined the effect of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge on MMP-1 and MMP-13 mRNA expression in bovine preovulatory follicles.

Results

Expression of MMP-1 mRNA during the periovulatory period

Relative abundance of MMP-1 mRNA in bovine periovulatory follicular and luteal tissue was regulated by the preovulatory gonadotropin surge. The MMP-1 cDNA hybridized specifically to two MMP-1 mRNA species of 2.4 and 1.8 Kb (Figure 23). Relative levels of MMP-1 mRNA were greater at 6, 12, and 48 h relative to the 0 h (pre-LH surge) time point (P < 0.05). Differential upregulation of the 2.4 and 1.8 Kb transcripts was observed. Expression of the 2.4 Kb transcript was increased at the 6 and 12 h time points. In contrast, the 1.8 Kb transcript was dramatically upregulated and was predominant at 48 h (new CL). To confirm that both transcripts encoded for MMP-1 and not a related or undescribed MMP, a second upstream MMP-1 cDNA was generated and utilized in Northern analysis. The upstream cDNA also recognized both MMP-1 transcripts (Figure 24).

Expression of MMP-13 mRNA during the periovulatory period

Expression of MMP-13 mRNA was also regulated by the preovulatory LH surge. The MMP-13 cDNA hybridized specifically to a 3.0 Kb transcript (Figure 25). Relative levels of MMP-13 mRNA were transiently increased at 6 h relative to the 0 h (pre-gonadotropin surge) timepoint. MMP-13 mRNA expression then decreased at 12 and 18 h followed by an increase at 24 h and a second decline at 48 h (Figure 26).



States of the second

Figure 23: Effect of a GnRH-induced gonadotropin surge on MMP-1 mRNA abundance in bovine periovulatory follicular and luteal tissue A) Northern analysis of MMP-1 mRNA expression: Note hybridization of the MMP-1 cDNA to a 2.4 kb transcript at 6, 12, and 24 h and appearance of a second 1.8 kb transcript at 48 h. B) Effect of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge on relative levels of MMP-1 mRNA in bovine periovulatory follicles and new CL. Data (B) are expressed as relative units MMP-1 mRNA per unit RPL-19 mRNA. Data shown as mean \pm SE. Time points without a common superscript are different at P < 0.05.



Hours After GnRH Injection

Figure 24: Effect of a GnRH-induced gonadotropin surge on MMP-1 mRNA abundance in bovine periovulatory follicular and luteal tissue. Northern analysis of MMP-1 mRNA expression using a 32 P cDNA encoding for a region of the MMP-1 mRNA located 5' to that used in Figure 23. Note hybridization of the MMP-1 cDNA to a 2.4 kb transcript at 24 h and a 1.8 kb transcript at 48 h.



Figure 25: Effect of a GnRH-induced gonadotropin surge on MMP-13 mRNA abundance in bovine periovulatory follicular and luteal tissue. Northern analysis of MMP-13 mRNA expression: Note hybridization of the MMP-13 cDNA to a single 3.0 kb transcript.



Figure 26: Effect of a GnRH induced gonadotropin surge on MMP-13 mRNA abundance in bovine periovulatory follicular and luteal tissue A) Semi-quantitative RT-PCR analysis of MMP-13 mRNA expression. B) Effect of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge on relative levels of MMP-13 mRNA in bovine periovulatory follicles and new CL. Data are expressed as % increase in expression levels over 0 h (pre gonadotropin surge) samples (n = 6 per time point). Data shown as mean \pm SE. Time points without a common superscript are different at P < 0.05.

Discussion

Rupture of a mature ovarian follicle and subsequent release of a viable oocyte is an absolute requirement for reproductive success. Numerous studies have implicated MMPs as important mediators of the ovulatory process. Collagenolysis is a prerequisite for ovulation and subsequent corpus luteum (CL) formation considering the oocyte must penetrate three collagen rich layers of the follicle in order to be released. In this study we examined the effect of the preovulatory LH surge on expression of MMP-1 (interstitial collagenase) and MMP-13 (collagenase-3) mRNAs.

In the present study, two MMP-1 transcripts were detected that were differentially regulated. The 2.4 kb transcript increased substantially at 6 and 12 h compared to the 0 h time point. At 18 h it decreased to baseline levels and began to increase again at 24 and 48 h. The 1.8 kb transcript was undetectable at all preovulatory time points examined with a dramatic increase at 48 h (new CL) following the LH surge. To be confidant that both transcripts encoded for MMP-1 and not a related or undescribed MMP, a second Northen analysis was performed using a MMP-1 cDNA encoding for a region 5' to the original MMP-1 probe that was generated, confirming the presence of two MMP-1 transcripts. While upregulation of MMP-1 mRNA is seen during the ovulatory process in several other species, two MMP-1 mRNA transcripts are unique to the bovine ovary. Upregulation of the larger transcript is predominant in follicular tissue and may be associated with the ovulatory process, while upregulation of the smaller transcript accompanies CL formation. The appearance of two MMP-1 transcripts in the bovine was unanticipated. However, it is important to note that different MMP-1 transcript sizes have been reported in different tissues in the rat. In the current study, we report a 1.8 kb

transcript and a 2.4 kb transcript. Previous studies in the rat ovary have reported a 1.7 or 1.8 kb MMP-1 transcript [64, 78]. In contrast, a study examining MMP-1 mRNA expression in different rat cell types, reported a 2.9 kb MMP-1 transcript in osteoblast cells with a slightly larger MMP-1 mRNA in uterine smooth muscle cells [160]. Posttranscriptional mechanisms have also been shown to regulate collagenase mRNA [161]. The human collagenase mRNA contains three AUUUA motifs in the 3' end [162] that help regulate mRNA stability. Previous studies have shown that the AUUUA motifs present in the collagenase transcript enhance mRNA degradation, an effect that is antagonized in response to cytokines such as Interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) [162]. However, the ability of IL-1 β to prevent mRNA decay occurs only in specific cell types. Therefore, it is possible that cell specific post-transcriptional modification could alter the size of the collagenase mRNA in response to the microenvironment of that cell type.

Like the cow, expression of MMP-1 mRNA is increased in rat ovaries [64] and macaque granulosa cells [66] following an ovulatory stimulus. Preliminary data evaluating bovine MMP-1 mRNA expression by RT-PCR revealed expression by both granulosa cells and theca cells. This is consistent with what is seen in rats and rabbits following the LH surge [64, 77]. In gilts, MMP-1 mRNA is localized to the granulosa and theca interna cells of preovulatory follicles, but an increase in expression is only seen in the theca interna following LH/hCG stimulation [76]. In monkeys, MMP-1 mRNA is expressed by granulosa cells following the LH surge, and human granulosa cells have also been shown to secrete MMP-1 [16, 66].

Matrix metalloproteinase-13 mRNA expression is also increased in bovine preovulatory follicles following the LH surge. Considerably less information is known

regarding the regulation and localization of MMP-13 mRNA following the LH surge. Unlike many other MMP family members that are expressed in several tissues throughout the body, MMP-13 is highly expressed in the ovary in rats [78]. Furthermore, while MMP-13 is not induced in immature rat ovaries following an ovulatory dose of hCG, it is expressed at high levels during proestrus and estrus in mature rats. These studies showed MMP-13 to be at a minimum at metestrus and gradually increase from diestrus to proestrus [78]. It was postulated that an element required for induction of MMP-13 expression is not present in the immature rat ovary. Several investigators have questioned the results obtained from immature, gonadotropin-primed animals when trying to relate the results to mature, cycling animals [78, 176]. In contrast, MMP-13 mRNA is undetectable by Northern analysis in the mouse ovary during the periovulatory period [58]. However, these studies in mice and rats were likely compromised by examination of periovulatory regulation of MMP-13 mRNA abundance in the ovary as a whole (including stroma and other nonovulatory follicles). Preliminary studies evaluating MMP-13 mRNA expression in the bovine preovulatory follicular cell types indicate MMP-13 is expressed primarily by the theca layer and tunica albuginea. Similar results were reported in the rat [78]. However, the bovine model is a more appropriate model for studying the ovulatory process because it allows one to examine the regulatory events occurring in a single ovulatory follicle (versus an entire ovary containing multiple ovulatory follicles used in rodent models) of a mature, cycling animal (versus an animal that has not reached reproductive maturity).

Preovulatory follicle collagenase activity is also regulated by the LH surge. Collagenolytic activity is increased in rat ovaries [74, 159] and sheep preovulatory

follicles [35] in response to an ovulatory stimulus. Furthermore, there is evidence that selective collagen degradation occurs at the apex of the follicle, which could be attributable to collagenase activity. Espey first showed that as ovulation approaches, the follicle wall becomes thinner and the concentration of collagen fibrils is decreased at the apex [75]. Electron microscopy of sheep follicles showed a decrease in collagen fibrils at the apex versus the base 24 h after a GnRH-induced LH surge [17]. Furthermore, Murdoch detected increased collagenolytic activity at the apex versus the base of the follicle [17]. Previous studies have also shown increased proMMP-1 at the apex of rabbit follicles following gonadotropin stimulation [77]. Further studies will be required to determine the effect of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge on individual enzyme activity for MMP-1 and MMP-13.

į.

Of particular interest are the mechanisms or factors downstream from the LH surge that are regulating mRNA expression for the collagenases. While a considerable amount of data supports the role of eicosanoids in ovulation, some evidence also supports a direct role of eicosanoids in regulation of ovarian collagenase expression. In rats, inhibitors of eicosanoid synthesis suppress LH-induced MMP-1 mRNA expression [64]. inhibitor NDGA Furthermore, indomethacin, an of cyclooxygenase, and (nordihydroguaiaretic acid), an inhibitor of the lipoxygenase pathway, prevent ovarian collagenolysis and ovulation in rats [159]. Indomethacin was also shown to inhibit collagenase activity in the rabbit and the sheep [163]. Likewise, a specific inhibitor of 5lipoxygenase, MK 886, suppressed collagenase activity as well as ovulation [116]. While a direct relationship between arachidonic acid derivatives and collagenase activity in the bovine is still unknown, previous studies have shown the COX-2 enzyme is induced

within the granulosa layer of bovine preovulatory follicles following the LH surge [117, 118]. Follicular fluid PGE₂ levels are increased within 18 h after hCG treatment in cattle [117, 119]. Furthermore, preliminary results indicate that bovine preovulatory follicles express the PGE₂ receptor subtype EP2 (Cassar/Smith, unpublished). Mice with targeted mutations in the COX-2 gene fail to ovulate [121], and PGE₂ supplementation restores ovulation [122]. Thus, PGE₂ may play a role in regulation of MMP-1 and MMP-13 expression in bovine preovulatory follicles, but further investigation will be required.

Progesterone is another possible regulator of collagenase expression. The antiprogesterone RU486 prevented the hCG-induced rise in collagenase activity in PMSG-primed rat ovaries [164]. Furthermore, the LH surge initiated a rapid induction of the progesterone receptor mRNA in bovine preovulatory follicles [135]. Both MMP-1 and MMP-13 mRNA show an initial increase in mRNA expression followed by a decline and then a second increase in expression. It is possible that the LH surge is directly responsible for the initial increase in collagenase expression, while downstream effects of the LH surge such as the increase in cyclooxygenase-2 (PGE₂) and upregulation of the progesterone receptor, may be necessary for the subsequent increase in collagenase mRNA.

While substrate redundancy seems to be prevalent among the MMP family, it is believed that MMP-1 and MMP-13 have evolved as specialized enzymes [55]. Due to structural differences on account of peptide bond formations, MMP-1 is both more difficult to activate and more resilient to degradation than MMP-13 [55]. Due to an amino acid substitution in its active site, MMP-13 also appears to have a broader range of substrates in its ability to cleave gelatin [55]. Therefore, MMP-1 and MMP-13 may have complimentary but distinct roles in the degradation of collagen during the ovulatory process.

In summary, we have shown the preovulatory gonadotropin surge results in increased MMP-1 and MMP-13 mRNA expression. Increased collagenase expression may play a critical role in the obligatory degradation of the collagenous layers of the follicle wall during the ovulatory process. Further studies will be required to determine the effect of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge on MMP-1 and MMP-13 activity and to determine the specific intrafollicular signaling pathways that mediate the gonadotropin surge-induced increases in MMP-1 and MMP-13 mRNA. Our results support the hypothesis that increased expression of MMP-1 and MMP-13 mRNA may help regulate follicle rupture and (or) the ovulatory follicle/corpus luteum transition in cattle.

Chapter V

Differential Regulation of Tissue Inhibitors of Metalloproteinases (TIMP) 1 and 3

in Bovine Preovulatory Follicles and Luteal Tissue Following the LH surge:

Implications for Regulation of the Ovulatory Process

Abstract

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are metal-dependent enzymes that degrade various extracellular matrix (ECM) components. Numerous studies have implicated MMPs as important mediators of the follicular ECM degradation required for ovulation. MMP activity is regulated via specific MMP inhibitors, such as the tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMP). Regulation of TIMPs may be an important factor controlling the ovulatory process. Here we test the hypothesis that localization and expression of TIMP 1 and 3 are differentially regulated in bovine periovulatory follicles following a GnRH-induced LH surge. Follicle growth and timing of the LH surge were synchronized in dairy cows and ovaries containing preovulatory follicles or new corpora lutea (CL) collected at 0, 6, 12, 18, 24 and 48 h (CL) after GnRH injection (n = 5-8 each). Relative levels of TIMP-1 mRNA increased within 6 h following the LH surge and remained elevated through the 48 h timepoint (P < 0.05). Follicular fluid TIMP-1 activity also increased in response to the gonadotropin surge. In contrast, TIMP-3 mRNA was not upregulated following the LH surge and decreased at 18 and 48 h (P < 0.05) relative to the 0 h (pre LH surge) timepoint. The intrafollicular localization of TIMP 1 and 3 mRNA was also differentially regulated during the periovulatory period. TIMP-1 mRNA was undetectable prior to the LH surge. Following gonadotropin stimulation, TIMP-1 was localized primarily to the granulosa layer of bovine preovulatory follicles. In contrast,

TIMP-3 mRNA was localized specifically to the theca layers and adjacent ovarian stroma. Our results indicate the TIMPs are regulated in bovine preovulatory follicles following the LH surge in a temporally and spatially specific fashion. Constitutive and (or) decreased expression of TIMP-3 in the theca layers/tunica albuginea may favor a net increase in the MMP/TIMP ratio and subsequent degradation of the follicle wall prior to ovulation.

Introduction

Ovulation and subsequent corpus luteum (CL) formation involve the cyclic process of follicle rupture and tissue degradation followed by tissue repair. A growing body of evidence indicates that proteolytic degradation of the extracellular matrix (ECM) at the apex of ovulatory follicles prior to ovulation is a crucial step in the complex cascade of events initiated by the LH surge. The matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) digest specific components (collagens, laminin, fibronectin, and proteoglycans) of the ECM and are noted for their role in ECM remodeling. Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) are presently a family of four proteins (TIMPs 1-4) that have been implicated in multiple roles in the ovary, including inhibition of MMPs. Degradation of the ECM may be governed by the MMP/TIMP ratio. TIMPs are thought to provide a homeostasis that prevents overproduction and unrestrained activity of MMPs.

Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases inhibit MMP activity by binding noncovalently with a 1:1 stoichiometry and high affinity [26]. Although they share structural similarities, each TIMP is a separate gene product containing 12 cysteine residues that form six disulfide bonds and contribute to the stability of TIMP molecules [84]. TIMPs differ in their degree of glycosylation, molecular weight, as well as their

solubility [85, 86]. While TIMPs 1, 2, and 4 are soluble within the extracellular milieu, TIMP-3 is secreted and then bound to the extracellular matrix [87, 88]. The least is known about TIMP-4, although preliminary studies suggest that it is most similar to TIMP-2 [85, 89]. TIMPs are multifunctional molecules that have been implicated in several functions within the ovary in addition to MMP inhibition. For example, TIMPs have been noted to promote steroidogenesis [90], stimulate cell growth in a variety of tissues [91], help promote activation of MMPs [53], inhibit angiogenesis [92], and influence apoptosis [93], all processes that may contribute to ovulation and subsequent CL formation.

The specific functions of TIMPs during the periovulatory period are unclear. Interestingly, MMPs and TIMPs are often secreted in parallel as many factors that stimulate expression of MMPs also increase expression of the inhibitors [94]. The regulation of TIMPs 1 and 3 appears to be species specific. While TIMP-1 mRNA is increased in the mouse [58, 95], rat [61, 64, 96], sheep [60], and macaque [66] following gonadotropin stimulation, the cell specific regulation of TIMP-1 is distinct in these species. Furthermore, previous reports examining the regulation of TIMP-3 are conflicting [58, 95].

To examine the potential role of TIMPs in the ovulatory process, we examined the temporal and spatial regulation of TIMPs 1 and 3. These molecules cooperatively regulate ECM remodeling in other systems. However, their role in the ovulatory process in cattle is not well understood.

Results

Effect of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge on TIMP-1 mRNA abundance, localization and enzyme activity

Relative abundance of TIMP-1 mRNA in bovine periovulatory follicular and luteal tissue was regulated by the preovulatory gonadotropin surge. The TIMP-1 cDNA hybridized specifically to a 0.9 kb transcript present within bovine periovulatory follicles and new CL (Figure 27). Relative to the 0 h timepoint, expression of TIMP-1 mRNA was significantly increased in preovulatory follicles at all timepoints examined following the gonadotropin surge. TIMP-1 mRNA was increased within 6 h of the gonadotropin surge. Levels of expression declined slightly at 24 h and then were dramatically elevated in new CL at 48 h (P < 0.05). TIMP-1 mRNA was nearly undetectable by in situ hybridization prior to the LH surge and was localized primarily to the granulosa layer of bovine preovulatory follicles following the LH surge (Figure 28). No obvious differences in TIMP-1 activity were detected in follicle homogenates (triton and heat extracts, apex and base; Figure 29, apex heat depicted) collected before versus after the gonadotropin surge. However, TIMP-1 activity was clearly increased in periovulatory follicular fluid samples collected after the gonadotropin surge (Figure 30).

Effect of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge on bovine periovulatory follicular TIMP-3 mRNA and enzyme activity

In contrast to the ontogeny of TIMP-1 mRNA observed above, expression of TIMP-3 mRNA was elevated prior to and at 6 and 12 h following the preovulatory gonadotropin surge (Figure 31). Levels of TIMP-3 mRNA declined at 18 h and substantially declined again at 48 h following the LH surge (P < 0.05). The bovine TIMP-3 cDNA hybridized



Figure 27: Effect of a GnRH-induced gonadotropin surge on TIMP-1 mRNA abundance in bovine periovulatory follicular and luteal tissue. A) Northern analysis of TIMP-1 mRNA expression: Note hybridization to a single 0.9 kb transcript. B) Effect of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge on relative levels of TIMP-1 mRNA in bovine periovulatory follicles and new CL. Data (B) are expressed as relative units TIMP-1 mRNA per unit RPL-19 mRNA. Data shown as mean \pm SE (n = 6 per time point). Time points without a common superscript are different at P < 0.05.





Figure 28: In situ localization of TIMP-1 mRNA within bovine periovulatory follicles collected at 0, 12 and 24 h after GnRH injection (Magnification 120X). A) Bright-field micrograph of a preovulatory follicle collected at the 0 h timepoint and stained with hematoxylin and eosin. B) Dark-field micrograph of the same section hybridized with a ³⁵S antisense TIMP-1 cRNA C) Dark-field micrograph of adjacent serial section of the same follicle hybridized with a ³⁵S enser TIMP-1 cRNA C) Dark-field micrograph of adjacent serial section of the same follicle hybridized with a ³⁵S enser TIMP-1 cRNA C) Dark-field micrograph of adjacent serial section of the same follicle hybridized with a ³⁵S enser TIMP-1 cRNA C) Dark-field micrograph of adjacent serial section of the same follicle hybridized with a ³⁴S enser TIMP-1 cRNA C) Dark-field micrograph of adjacent serial section of the same follicle hybridized with a ³⁴S enser TIMP-1 cRNA C) Dark-field micrograph of adjacent serial section of the same follicle hybridized with a ³⁴S enser TIMP-1 cRNA C) Dark-field micrograph of adjacent serial section of the same follicle hybridized with a ³⁵S enser TIMP-1 cRNA C) dark-field micrograph of adjacent serial section of the same follicle collected at 12 and 24 h, respectively. F, 1) Similar to C except preovulatory follicle collected at 12 and 24 h, respectively. Note highest expression of TIMP-1 mRNA in the granulosa layer following the LH surge.



Figure 29: Representative reverse zymographic analysis of TIMP-1, TIMP-2, and TIMP-3 activity in bovine follicle extracts collected at 0, 6, 12, 18, and 24 h after GnRH injection (apex heat depicted; n = 6 per time point).



Figure 30: Effect of preovulatory gonadotropin surge on TIMP-1 activity in bovine follicular fluid. Representative zymogram depicting TIMP-1 activity in follicular fluid of bovine periovulatory follicles collected at 0, 6, 12, 18, and 24 h after GnRH injection (2 µl pooled sample per lane).


Figure 31: Effect of a GnRH induced gonadotropin surge on TIMP-3 mRNA abundance in bovine periovulatory follicular and luteal tissue. A) Northern analysis of TIMP-3 mRNA expression: Note hybridization to multiple transcripts (5, 2.8, and 2.4 kb). B) Effect of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge on relative levels of TIMP-3 mRNA in bovine periovulatory follicles and new CL. Data (B) are expressed as relative units TIMP-3 mRNA per unit RPL-19 mRNA. Data shown as mean \pm SE (n = 6 per time point). Time points without a common superscript are different at P < 0.05.

A.



12

Hours Post GnRH Injection

Figure 32: In situ localization of TIMP-3 mRNA within bovine periovulatory follicles collected at 0, 12 and 24 h after GnRH injection (Magnification 120X). A) Bright-field micrograph of a preovulatory follicle collected at the 0 h timepoint and stained with hematoxylin and eosin. B) Dark-field micrograph of the same section hybridized with a ³³P antisense TIMP-3 cRNA C) Dark-field micrograph of adjacent serial section of the same follicle hybridized with a ³³P sense TIMP-3 cRNA. D, G) Similar to A except preovulatory follicle collected at 12 and 24 h, respectively, E, H) Similar to B except preovulatory follicle collected at 12 and 24 h, respectively. F. I) Similar to C except preovulatory follicle collected at 12 and 24 h, respectively. Note highest expression of TIMP-3 mRNA in the theca layer.

specifically to 2.4, 2.8 and 5 kb transcripts (Figure 31). All transcripts appeared to be coordinately regulated following the gonadotropin surge. TIMP-3 mRNA was localized primarily to the theca layer/tunica albuginea of bovine preovulatory follicles (Figure 32). Bands of MMP inhibitory activity that co-migrated with the TIMP-3 standard were not detected by reverse zymographic analysis of follicle homogenates and follicular fluid (Figure 29).

Discussion

Follicle rupture is dependent upon localized degradation of the ECM at the apex of the preovulatory follicle wall. A growing body of evidence indicates that MMPs are important mediators of the ovulatory process. However, of equal importance is the controlled regulation of MMPs throughout the cyclic process of degradation and tissue repair that occurs during ovulation and subsequent corpus luteum (CL) formation. Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) have been implicated in multiple roles in the ovary, including inhibition of MMPs.

In the present study, TIMP-1 mRNA was increased in bovine preovulatory follicular and luteal tissue following exposure to a gonadotropin surge. This is in agreement with previous studies in the mouse [58, 95], rat [61, 64, 96], sheep [60], and macaque [66]. Expression of TIMP-1 mRNA was detected primarily in the granulosa cells. The spatial regulation of TIMP-1 appears to be species specific. In the mouse, TIMP-1 expression is localized to granulosa and theca-interstitial cells of preovulatory follicles [58]. In mice that were not hormone primed, TIMP-1 expression was not observed in granulosa or theca cells at any stage of the cycle [95]. However, several investigators have questioned the results obtained from immature, gonadotropin-primed

animals when trying to relate the results to mature, cycling animals [78, 176]. TIMP-1 expression in the rat is observed in the theca interna and to a lesser extent in the granulosa cells following hCG administration [97]. Other studies in the rat reported the presence of TIMP-1 mRNA in both the granulosa cells and the residual ovarian tissue and levels were increased after hCG stimulation. However, in these studies mRNA localization was determined by Northern analysis of granulosa cells collected from ovulatory follicular fluid and the remaining theca/residual tissue versus in situ hybridization studies [64]. In sheep, the granulosa cells are the primary source of TIMP-1 [60].

Unlike in other species where TIMP-1 and TIMP-2 appear to be differentially regulated, TIMP-1 and TIMP-2 show similar spatial and temporal expression patterns in the bovine [86]. TIMP-2 was also increased in granulosa cells at all timepoints examined following the LH surge (discussed in chapter III). Like TIMP-1, TIMP-2 has also been shown to possess growth factor-like activity and the ability to influence cell morphology [86]. While it is possible that TIMPs 1 and 2 play a coordinated role in the ovulatory process, they are proposed to act selectively on different MMPs. For example, TIMP-1 preferentially binds the collagenases and MMP-9, whereas TIMP-2 has a high affinity for MMP-2 and may play a role in activating and localizing MMP-2 activity at the cell surface [85, 86, 165]. Additionally current evidence indicates that all four TIMPs described to date are expressed in the bovine ovary. TIMP-4 mRNA is expressed in bovine periovulatory follicles at similar time points as examined in the current experiments [166]. Studies suggest that TIMP-4 has many traits similar to those of

TIMP-2 [85, 89]. The potential specific role of individual TIMPs during the periovulatory period is not known.

In contrast to TIMP-1, TIMP-3 mRNA expression is not upregulated in bovine periovulatory follicles following the gonadotropin surge. Levels of TIMP-3 mRNA were reduced at 18 h and substantially decreased at 48 h versus 0 h following the LH surge. Conflicting reports exist in the mouse regarding the hormonal regulation of ovarian TIMP-3 expression. In cycling mice, TIMP-3 mRNA is increased at early proestrus [95], while in eCG-primed mice, TIMP-3 expression is unchanged following hCG administration [58]. As discussed previously, while the standard reproductive rodent model uses immature, non-cycling animals injected with PMSG and hCG, studies using mature, cycling rodents have produced differing results [78, 95, 176]. TIMP-3 mRNA was present primarily in the theca layer and adjacent ovarian stroma of bovine preovulatory follicles. In mice [95] and rats [97] TIMP-3 expression is observed in both granulosa and theca cells as well as interstitial tissue following gonadotropin stimulation. However, these results reflected the TIMP-3 localization in all growing follicles, not specifically the ovulatory follicles.

In the present study we have examined two potential regulators of ECM remodeling during the ovulatory process. When TIMPs were initially discovered, MMP inhibition was thought to be their primary role. However, many recent studies have shown numerous potential roles for TIMPs both in the ovulatory process as well as other physiological and pathological processes. In general, TIMPs consist of two domains. The N-terminal domain, which contains a highly conserved CXC motif, is responsible for inhibiting MMP action through interaction with the active site on the catalytic domain

and the substrate-binding groove [56, 167]. The C-terminal domain gives specific biochemical and physiological attributes to individual TIMPs, such as the ability of TIMP-3 to bind the extracellular matrix [167]. Furthermore, the C-terminal domain is proposed to be responsible for MMP-independent functions of TIMPs such as regulation of cell proliferation and apoptosis. Regulation of such processes is believed crucial to the ovulatory process and CL formation [86].

Throughout the ovulatory process and CL formation the ECM is in a constant state of degradation and deposition that is in part regulated by the MMPs and the TIMPs. Degradation of the ECM may be governed by the MMP/TIMP ratio. A series of experiments in transgenic pregnant mice elegantly illustrated the effects of altering the MMP/TIMP ratio [168, 169]. Overexpression of MMP-3 resulted in dedifferentiation of mammary epithelial cells, apoptosis, and premature mammary gland involution. Crossing mice that overexpress MMP-3 with mice that overexpress TIMP-1 resulted in normal glandular differentiation and delayed mammary gland involution. Accordingly, the LH surge-induced increase in TIMP-1 mRNA concomitant with the increase in other MMPs such as the collagenases is not contradictory to follicle rupture. TIMPs may allow focalized degradation to occur while limiting excessive proteolysis. The LH surge may upregulate TIMP and MMP expression through different pathways. Inhibitors of eicosanoid synthesis that blocked collagenase (MMP-1) expression and ovulation in the rat had no effect on the LH surge-induced increase in TIMP-1 expression [64]. Furthermore, constitutive or declined expression of TIMP-3 in the theca layer/adjacent ovarian stroma during the ovulatory process in the face of increased MMP expression may favor ECM degradation.

While the ability of TIMPs to provide focalized yet unrestrained activity of MMPs may be critical to the ovulatory process, TIMPs have many MMP-independent functions that may play an equally important role in ovulation and CL formation. For example, TIMP-1 has been shown to promote cell growth in a variety of cell types or cells lines [91, 170]. TIMP-1 has also been implicated in gene regulation. It has been reported to stimulate collagenase secretion in fibroblasts, suggesting that TIMP-1 may regulate MMP production [171]. TIMP-1 deficient mice express lower levels of TIMP-2 and -3. Furthermore, TIMP-1 has been detected in the nuclei of fibroblasts, further implicating it in gene regulation [172]. In addition, TIMP-1 has been shown to stimulate the growth of endothelial cells but inhibit their migration, which may be important in CL formation or control of angiogenesis during the ovulatory process [91, 170, 173].

Of controversy is the role of TIMP-1 in steroid regulation. Several studies have documented the ability of TIMP-1 to stimulate steroidogenesis in vitro [90, 174, 175]. However, initial in vivo studies involving mice lacking a functional TIMP-1 gene found no significant changes in either systemic estradiol or progesterone content using immature, gonadotropin-primed mice [174]. More recent studies involving mature cycling TIMP-1 null mice provide in vivo evidence that TIMP-1 regulates steroidogenesis [176]. In these mice, serum progesterone levels were decreased during estrus and serum estradiol levels were elevated at estrus and diestrus compared to wildtype. Therefore, TIMP-1 is potentially capable of modulating steroidogenesis of the newly developing corpus luteum. Furthermore, TIMP-1 has been reported to share a 124-base-pair sequence homology with StAR, a protein which controls the transport of cholesterol to the inner mitochondrial membrane [177]. Thus, TIMP-1 may function as a coregulator of steroidogenesis in vivo along with several other factors.

Unlike TIMPs 1 and 2 which are soluble within the extracellular milieu, TIMP-3 is bound to the ECM, potentially allowing it to directly interact with enzymes involved in ECM component proteolysis [87, 88]. TIMP-3 also appears to be multi-functional, although many reports are conflicting. For example, several studies have shown that TIMP-3 promotes apoptosis [178, 179], and further studies have shown this effect to be independent of MMP inhibition [180]. It is possible that TIMP-3 promotes apoptosis by stabilizing tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) receptors [178] and inhibiting TNF- α converting enzyme (TACE) [181]. The most notable distinction between the ovulatory follicle apex and base is the presence of the surface epithelium. During the ovulatory process, the surface epithelium undergoes apoptosis, and it is thought that proteolytic enzymes are released from these dying cells that could preferentially degrade the collagen at the apex of the follicle [29]. In contrast, other reports examining TIMP-3 in rat ovaries found TIMP-3 to be more abundant in granulosa cells of healthy follicles compared to adjacent atretic follicles [101]. It was suggested that TIMP-3 might actually reflect whether a follicle remains healthy or becomes apoptotic. Furthermore, TIMP-3 was regulated during G₁ progression during the cell cycle as well as differentiation [182]. Therefore, it may play a role in the differentiation of follicular cells prior to follicle maturation or in the follicle to CL transition.

In summary, we have shown that the gonadotropin surge results in increased TIMP-1 mRNA and activity while TIMP-3 mRNA is slightly declined. Upregulated expression of TIMP-1 in the granulosa cells may play an important role in regulation of

collagenolytic activity and steroidogenesis. The dramatic increase in TIMP-1 expression in the newly formed CL supports a potential role for TIMP-1 in the follicle to CL transition. Constitutive and decreased expression of TIMP-3 in the theca layers/tunica albuginea may favor a net increase in the MMP/TIMP ratio and subsequent degradation of the follicle wall prior to ovulation.

Chapter VI

General Conclusions and Limitations

Current Findings

In the present study the question was asked, do MMPs and TIMPs play a role in the ovulatory process? As an initial step in the exploration of this question, I have examined the mRNA expression, localization, and activity of selected MMPs and TIMPs following a GnRH-induced LH surge. The preovulatory LH surge is the endocrine signal that triggers ovulation. Our model allows us to examine changes in mRNA and protein/activity for specific MMPs and TIMPs at known time points following the LH surge. Based on their substrate specificity, intrafollicular localization, and increased mRNA expression following the LH surge, MMP-1, MMP-13, and MMP-14 may mediate degradation of the type I and III collagen rich ECM in the theca layer and tunica albuginea. While MMP-2 mRNA, localized in the theca cells, and MMP-2 activity remained unchanged during the periovulatory period, localization of MMP-2 activity to the cell surface may be important for basement membrane breakdown. The physiological significance of increased TIMP 1 and 2 mRNA expression and activity in the granulosa layer following the LH surge is not yet known. TIMPs are multifunctional molecules that have been implicated in several functions within the ovary in addition to MMP inhibition [90-93]. Finally, decreased expression of TIMP-3 following the LH surge may facilitate A shift in the MMP/TIMP ratio in the theca layers and tunica albuginea in favor of the MMP and thus promote ECM breakdown.

What is occurring at the protein level for these specific MMPs and TIMPs is not completely clear. While zymography and reverse zymography for MMP-2, TIMP-1, and

TIMP-2 revealed no change in the activity of these proteins in follicle homogenates. limitations of the assays employed leave room for further evaluation (see below). Zymographic analysis of MMP-2 activity showed no change in MMP-2 activity in follicle homogenates when separated on a SDS-PAGE gel. However, future development of an assay that is sensitive enough to evaluate MMP-2 activity (in the follicle homogenate) in a test tube, would allow the evaluation of the net MMP-2 activity (MMP-² **act**ivity in the presence of inhibitors and other MMP-2: protein interactions, i.e. proteins that inhibit, activate or localize MMP-2 activity) present at the specific time points examined. Likewise, while TIMP-1 and TIMP-2 activity were increased in follicular fluid, it is unclear why follicle homogenate TIMP-1 and TIMP-2 activity were not increased corresponding to the increase in RNA abundance. Once again, the TIMP $a \subset t$ ivity that is detected on a reverse zymography gel evaluates TIMP molecules that have been separated from other protein:protein interactions. Furthermore, detection of TIMP-3 bУ reverse zymographic analysis was compromised by the abundance of protein Collecules of similar Mr in the follicle homogenate preparations. Further studies will be required to gain a more accurate representation of TIMP activity in vivo.

A mal models/Species specificity

hen comparing the results of any group of studies, it is important to closely examine the model that each investigator uses. In the field of ovulation and reproduction, careful aluation of the investigator's model and the species that is being used in the study is especially important. When investigating possible regulators of the ovulatory process corpus luteum formation, it is standard procedure to synchronize an animal's reproductive cycle. In the literature, it has become commonplace to simply compare one investigator's results to another's without truly evaluating the models being used. Critical evaluation of each model is necessary when considering experiments that produce differing results.

The standard reproductive mouse and rat model uses immature, non-cycling animals. The mice/rats are injected with PMSG (pregnant mare serum gonadotropin; hCG) to stimulate follicle growth, followed 48 h later by hCG to induce ovulation. While this model has become the standard for studying the ovulatory process in mice and rats, several investigators have begun to question some of the results obtained from immature, gonadotropin-primed animals when trying to relate the results to mature, cycling animals. In several instances, different results for preovulatory regulation of MMP and TIMP expression and localization were obtained using immature, gonadotropin-primed mice versus mature, cycling mice [58, 95, 98, 176].

a mals are injected with $PGF_{2\alpha}$ to synchronize luteal regression. An ovulatory dose of

Charles in the injected 36 h later to produce a preovulatory LH surge. The largest diameter follicle in the pair of ovaries will ovulate ~ 24 h after GnRH injection.
Similarly, in the Ovsynch model described in the present studies (See Chapter 2), follicle
Swth is synchronized through a series of GnRH and PGF_{2α} injections. An ovulatory
Se of GnRH is administered to produce a LH surge that results in ovulation of the minant follicle ~28 h later. Assay of serum LH is used with this model to confirm that

an LH surge was elicited by the second GnRH injection and that a premature LH surge did not occur. Therefore, the typical sheep model is more similar to the cow model presented in the current studies, compared with standard rodent models reported in the literature that stimulate growth of multiple follicles with exogenous gonadotropins.

In contrast, the rhesus monkey is synchronized using yet another model [66]. Adult rhesus monkeys exhibiting normal menstrual cycles of approximately 28 days are stimulated with recombinant human gonadotropins (rhFSH for 8 days and rhLH on days 7 and 8) beginning 1-3 days from the onset of menses to promote the development of multiple preovulatory follicles. A GnRH antagonist is also injected to prevent an endogenous LH surge. An ovulatory stimulus of rhCG is injected on day 8 to initiate the periovulatory process.

Models are a necessary and integral part of any experimental design. Critical evaluation is necessary to reveal the strengths and weaknesses of each model. For example, in the mouse model, the follicle is too small to collect a single ovulatory follicle, and therefore the entire ovary is evaluated instead of the ovulatory follicle. Evaluation of mRNA or activity in the ovary as a whole, rather than just in preovulatory follicles, results in a greater contribution of stroma and other follicles at various stages of development to the sample being evaluated. Furthermore, the mouse and rat produce multiple ovulatory follicles and therefore may require signaling mechanisms that are dissimilar to those in the human and the cow which typically ovulates a single follicle per cycle. Likewise, models that use adult cycling animals are more comparable to a human model than models that use immature animals. Therefore, the cow model is a more appropriate model for studying the ovulatory process because it allows one to examine

the events occurring in the single ovulatory follicle following the ovulatory endocrine signal, the LH surge, and it utilizes adult, cycling animals versus animals that have not reached reproductive maturity.

Limitations of the Present Studies

Protein assays. The ultimate objective when studying MMPs and TIMPs is to understand what is occurring at the activity level. While RNA data is usually an excellent indicator of regulation occurring at the protein level, protein data is a more accurate indicator of the protein interactions occurring in the tissue at the time points being examined. Studying an enzyme includes an additional limitation because the essential question is not the amount of protein present, but the amount of activity present. Standard protein determination assays such as Westerns, radioimmunoassays, and ELISAs therefore do not provide all of the needed information about activity, and the investigator is left to use a substrate assay or an assay that measures a byproduct of the enzymatic reaction.

In addition to the successful approaches outlined in Chapter II, I made numerous attempts with several different assays to evaluate the activity of MMP-2 (gelatinase), and MMP-1 and MMP-13 (collagenases). These attempts were unsuccessful. The nature of the MMP molecule and its regulation make it particularly difficult to design an assay or pick a commercially available assay that most accurately shows how much activity is present *in vivo*. The full length MMP molecule consists of a pro-domain that is cleaved resulting in the active MMP. Many assays are designed to "capture" the MMP with an antibody, and then evaluate how much activity exists in the proteins that were captured. However, an antibody that captures both the full length (proform) and cleaved MMP

(active form) will result in a higher activity than if just the shorter "active" form were captured. Activity is detected for the proform because of chemical modifications in the incubation buffers included with the assays. Secondly, most assays cannot delineate whether the activity measured corresponds to that of active MMP, active plus proform of MMP, and (or) MMP in a complex with TIMPs. Therefore, if activity is present in a sample, it is often difficult to extrapolate that activity to what is occurring *in vivo*. Likewise, even the MMP activity seen on zymography gels represents activity present only after the proteins have been separated from MMP/TIMP complexes that may be occurring *in vivo*.

My initial objective was to find a quantitative assay that most closely addressed the question of what was occurring in each sample at the time point collected *in vivo*. The first assay attempted was the EnzChek Gelatinase/Collagenase assay from Molecular Probes (Eugene, OR). In this assay, each sample is incubated with a fluorescently labeled gelatin substrate in a 96 well plate in an incubation buffer containing the appropriate amount of CaCl₂ for optimal MMP activity. An increase in fluorescence is proportional to proteolytic activity and can be monitored with a fluorescence microplate reader. Collagenase purified from *Clostridium histolyticum* is provided with the kit to serve as a positive control. While the positive control worked with each plate attempted, the samples assayed did not produce a linear response with increasing time or with increasing amount of sample. Furthermore, 1,10-phenanthroline (an effective MMP inhibitor included with the kit) did not inhibit the limited amount of fluorescence seen in the samples. After many attempts to resolve these difficulties, I decided to try another commercially available assay for the following reasons. First, in some situations, fluorescent assays result in a high signal to noise ratio that cannot be overcome. Second, phenanthroline has been shown to produce a fluorescent signal in some scenarios. Finally, it is possible that the CaCl₂ concentration present in the homogenization buffer was interfering with the optimum CaCl₂ concentration for this assay.

Next I decided to try the MMP Gelatinase Activity assay kit from Chemicon (Temecula, CA). The principle of this assay is based upon cleavage of a biotinylated gelatinase substrate by active MMP-2. The biotinylated byproduct is then added to a streptavidin-enzyme complex in a 96 well plate. Addition of enzyme substrate results in a colored product that is read by a plate reader at 450 nm. This assay looked promising in theory because all of the original sample is washed away except the gelatinase byproduct; the signal is amplified by the streptavidin detection system; and the colorometric detection system eliminates the complications of fluorescent detection. However, like the first assay, I could not show this assay to be linear and parallel to the standard curve.

Because I could obtain semiquantitative information on gelatinase (MMP-2) activity from gelatin zymography, I shifted my efforts to measurement of collagenase activity. I began with a type I collagenase assay kit from Chemicon. In this assay, fluorescently labeled collagen is incubated with the sample in a test tube. Fluorescently labeled cleavage products are ethanol extracted and the fluorescence in each sample correlates with collagenase activity. The principles of the assay looked promising again, because the fluorescent product was precipitated from the original sample eliminating any fluorescent interference. However, similar problems were encountered as with above assays. Finally, I attempted to measure collagenolytic activity by incubation of the

samples with ³H type I collagen. As a measure of collagenolytic activity, radiolabeled digested collagen fragments are collected in the supernatant after appropriate incubation and centrifugation and activity counted (in scintillation cocktail) in a beta counter. Unfortunately the assay did not have the needed sensitivity, the ³H type I collagen proved very unstable, and once again there was a high signal to noise ratio. With the success of the gelatin zymography technique, collagen zymography was also tried. However, because of the density of collagen, samples did not migrate through the impregnated acrylamide gel with the same clarity as the gelatin gels, and I was unable to detect clear bands representing collagenolytic activity. Measurement of collagenase activity in these samples awaits the development of a sensitive assay that can amplify the activity in the sample without producing a high signal to noise ratio.

CARLES AND A DESCRIPTION OF A DESCRIPTIO

Sample preparation. Sample preparation can also prove challenging when attempting to measure MMP activity. MMPs require CaCl₂ to remain stable, and therefore CaCl₂ is a key component of MMP homogenization or extraction buffers. However, most activity assays also require a specific CaCl₂ concentration for assay optimization. Although I tried to adjust the CaCl₂ concentration in the assay buffers to account for the amounts present in the homogenization buffers, optimum CaCl₂ concentration was still a concern. Secondly, there is debate over the stability of MMPs in a frozen sample. Each tissue sample was frozen in liquid nitrogen when collected and then thawed once at the time of homogenization. After homogenization, heating, and centrifugation, each sample was then frozen again until assayed. Because active MMPs are further broken down into

smaller byproducts after activation, it is possible that the active MMPs are even more difficult to detect after freezing and thawing. Gelatin zymography of the samples showed nearly 100% of the activity detected was the proform (vs the active form).

The presence of endogenous MMP inhibitors in samples also makes measurement of MMP activity difficult. In previous studies, MMP activity was detectable in ovine preovulatory follicles only after reduction and alkylation to inactivate the TIMPs [17]. When attempted, inactivation of TIMPs by reduction and alkylation did not alleviate problems encountered with above assays.

Several attempts were also made to "clean up" the homogenized samples in order to remove excess salt or large proteins that may be interfering with the assays. Initially I tried to dialyze the samples into a buffer containing 50 mM Tris, 5 mM CaCl₂, 0.05% Brig 35 or into water through dialysis membranes. I also attempted to dialyze and concentrate the samples using Centricon (Millipore, Bedford, MA) centrifugal filter devices. Lastly, I tried to concentrate the MMPs in the samples by running each sample over a gelatin sepharose or heparin sepharose column with or without dialysis following affinity purification. All of the assays mentioned in the above sections and in the work presented here were attempted with all of these combinations of treated samples. Described partial purification procedures did not alleviate described technical impediments to quantitation of gelatinolytic and collagenolytic activity.

Ultimately, it will also be important to understand the periovulatory regulation of MMP-14 at the protein/activity level. Preliminary experiments were conducted using published procedures [183] to attempt to solubilize membrane bound MMP-14 from follicular membranes to measure its activity. The procedure involved homogenization of

the tissue in a biphasic detergent (Triton X-114) and centrifugation. The detergent phase contained the membrane proteins (potentially MMP-14) and the aqueous phase contained the cellular proteins. However, limitations on the amount of tissue available made this extra extraction procedure impractical at this time, and reliable assays for measuring MMP-14 activity have not been developed.

In situ hybridization.

Delineation of the intrafollicular localization of MMP-1 and MMP-13 mRNA (using in situ hybridization) proved difficult. Several attempts were made to modify the in situ procedure in order to increase sensitivity. Both ³⁵S and ³³P labeled probes were utilized. Sometimes an RNA probe used for in situ hybridization will have internal complementation that will decrease the amount of probe available for binding to the mRNA of interest. Upstream cDNAs were generated for both MMP-1 and MMP-13 with hopes of finding more effective probes for efficient detection of RNAs of interest. Shorter cDNAs were also generated with the hopes of decreasing internal complementation and increasing the ease with which labeled cRNA could penetrate the tissue. In addition, slides were hybridized with both the upstream probe and the original probe at the same time to increase the amount of signal that could be obtained for each target RNA molecule. A different emulsion was also tried that was advertised to have increased sensitivity, but unfortunately it also had a much higher signal to noise ratio. The reasons why in situ localization of MMP-1 and MMP-13 mRNA proved unsuccessful are unclear as MMP-2 and MMP-14 mRNAs were successfully localized using the same samples. In addition, MMP-1 and MMP-13 mRNA were detectable using Northern analysis.

Chapter VII

Future Directions

The work presented here poses two intertwined yet distinct questions: 1) What are the intrafollicular mechanisms whereby the LH surge causes ovulation? and 2) How are MMPs and TIMPs regulated, and are they involved in the ovulatory process? While the nature of these two questions is similar, and many of the future experiments would be the same in each case, it is still important to clearly define the long-term goal of one's research.

Firstly, there are several aspects of the current studies that require further investigation. As was previously discussed, protein data is critical in understanding the events occurring in the follicle extracellular matrix at the time of ovulation. While developing an assay that allows one to accurately quantify the net proteinase activity (the amount of activity occurring in each sample in the presence of TIMPs and other protein: protein interactions) itself would be timely, the information obtained using this assay would also represent a significant contribution to the understanding of regulation of MMP activity during the ovulatory process. Immunodetection assays such as Westerns would also be helpful in understanding MMP and TIMP protein regulation. Currently, there are several antibodies available that were made to various regions of the MMPs and TIMPs of interest. Likewise, further studies confirming the source of the collagenases need to be completed. While preliminary studies determined their localization, further studies are needed to increase the number of samples evaluated to confirm the precise localization of MMP-1 and MMP-13.

To direct the research focus towards understanding the key regulators of the ovulatory process, a functional genomics approach should be used, namely microarrays. Using microarrays created from normalized bovine cDNA libraries and non-redundant expressed sequence tags (EST), gene expression patterns of known and unidentified potential regulatory molecules can be studied. While this approach may result in further investigation of MMPs and TIMPs, other new candidate genes or potential regulators of the ovulatory process may become the focus of future experiments.

In contrast, the experiments presented here have identified six candidate MMPs and TIMPs that are regulated (5 increased and 1 decreased) following the preovulatory LH surge and may help control follicle rupture. Two experimental approaches would provide further insight into their role in the ovulatory process. First, because numerous MMP knockout models [184, 185, 186, 187] have pointed to the possibility of substantial redundancies among MMPs, it has been difficult to truly identify the absolute requirement and unique roles of individual MMPs. For example, while MMP-2 may contribute to follicle rupture through breakdown of the follicular basement membrane and may play an important role in the ovulatory process in sheep [67, 68, 69], MMP-2 deficient mice are fertile [184]. Likewise, previous studies have reported TIMP-2independent activation of MMP-2 through MMP-15 (MT2-MMP) [188]. A series of transgenic experiments overexpressing individual MMPs and/or TIMPs in the ovary would offer insight to the individual contributions of the MMPs and TIMPs to the ovulatory process in vivo. For example, overexpression of MMP-14 in the ovary would allow examination of increased proteolytic activity of other MMPs, such as MMP-2 and MMP-13, due to increased activation or localization to the cell surface or to MMP

activators, as well as examination of increased degradation of ECM due to MMP-14 collagenolytic activity. Previous studies showed that pro-MMP-2 activation is impaired in MMP-14 deficient mice [185]. Overexpression of TIMP-1 in the ovary may lend further insight to its multifunctional, MMP-independent roles in the ovulatory process such as steroid regulation and gene regulation [56]. Crossing MMP and TIMP ovary specific transgenic mice would also provide further understanding of the coordinated regulation that specific MMPs and TIMPs contribute to the homeostasis necessary for successful ovulation and subsequent tissue repair by determining whether a TIMP overexpressor would rescue the phenotype of a MMP transgenic mouse. Furthermore, the use of inducible overexpression techniques would allow the specific transgene to be expressed at a specific point in time, namely after the mouse has reached sexual maturity [189].

As was stated earlier, measuring MMP activity that is comparable to what is occurring *in vivo* is difficult for numerous reasons. Extraction procedures are complicated when trying to maintain the integrity of the MMPs with appropriate CaCl₂ concentrations without interfering with assay conditions, and when trying to obtain preparations to measure both soluble and membrane bound MMPs. In addition, MMPs are often complexed with TIMPs. These MMP:TIMP interactions may result in activation, inhibition, or sequestration, and may involve an active MMP or the full-length MMP. Therefore, a transgenic approach targeted to the ovary would offer insight at the systems level and at the cellular level as to the unique contributions of individual MMPs and TIMPs.

Finally, further investigation of the intrafollicular signaling pathways downstream of the LH surge would identify key regulators of both MMPs and TIMPs and follicle rupture. As was discussed previously, the progesterone receptor (P_4) [135, 164] and prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) [117, 122] receptor signaling pathways are potential mediators of MMP and TIMP regulation in the ovulatory process. A series of experiments designed to inhibit each of these pathways in order to evaluate their effects on MMP/TIMP regulation and follicle rupture would provide insight as to the basic mechanisms involved in follicle rupture and the ovulatory process. For example, injection of a selective P_4 receptor antagonist or COX-2 inhibitor into bovine preovulatory follicles after GnRH injection (to inhibit the progesterone receptor or prostaglandin signaling pathways, respectively) would allow for the evaluation of the MMP and TIMP response to the inhibition of these pathways. Both MMP-1 and MMP-13 mRNA in bovine preovulatory follicles show an initial increase in mRNA followed by a decline and then a second increase in expression (Chapter IV). The LH surge may be directly responsible for the initial increase in collagenase expression, while downstream effects of the LH surge, such as the increase in COX-2 (and subsequent increase in PGE₂) and the upregulation of the progesterone receptor, may be necessary for the subsequent increase in collagenase mRNA. These experiments would allow us to further determine if the P4 receptor and PGE₂ receptor signaling pathways play a key role in control of follicle rupture and regulation of MMPs and their inhibitors in bovine preovulatory follicles. In addition,

these experiments would provide insight as to which MMPs and TIMPs are truly obligatory for follicle rupture and lead to a better understanding of the ovulatory process.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Roskelley CD, Srebrow A, Bissell MJ. A hierarchy of ECM-mediated signalling regulates tissue-specific gene expression. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1995; 7: 736-747.
- 2. McIntush EW, Smith MF. Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases in ovarian function. Rev Reprod 1998; 3: 23-30.
- 3. Luck MR. The gonadal extracellular matrix. In: Oxford Reviews of Reproductive Biology, vol. 16; 1994: 34-85.
- 4. Johnson LL, Dyer R, Hupe D. Matrix metalloproteinases. Curr Opin Chem Biol 1998; 2: 466-471.
- 5. Nagase H, Das S, Dey S, Fowlkes J, Huang W, Brew K. Inhibitors of metalloproteinases in development and disease. Harwood, Lausanne; 1997.
- 6. Logan A, Hill D. Bioavailability: Is this a key event in regulating the actions of peptide growth factors? J Endocrinol 1992; 134: 157-161.
- 7. Katz E. The luteinized unruptured follicle and other ovulatory dysfunctions. Fertil Steril 1988; 50: 839-850.
- 8. Killick S, Elstein M. Pharmacologic production of luteinized unruptured follicles by prostaglandin sythetase. Fertil Steril 1987; 47: 773-777.
- 9. March C. Infertility, contraception, and reproductive endocrinology. In: Lobo R, R Mishell, R Paulson, D Shoupe (eds.); 1997: 507-535.
- 10. Jocelyn H, Setchell B. Translation of Regnier de Graaf. J Reprod Fertil 1972; 17 (suppl): 1-122.
- 11. Guttmacher M, Guttmacher A. Morphological and physiological studies of the musculature of the mature graafian follicle of the sow. Johns Hopkins Hosp Bull 1921; 32: 394-399.
- 12. Espey LL, Lipner H. Measurement of intrafollicular pressures in the rabbit ovary. Am J Physiol 1963; 205: 1067-1072.
- 13. Espey LL, Lipner H. Enzyme-induced rupture of rabbit graafian follicle. Am J Physiol 1965; 208: 208-213.
- 14. Morales T, Woessner JF, Jr., Marsh J, LeMaire WJ. Collagen, collagenase and collagenolytic activity in rat graafian follicles during follicular growth and ovulation. Biochem Biophys Acta 1983; 756: 119-122.

- 15. Espey LL, Lipner H. Ovulation. In: Knobil E, Neill JD (eds.), The Physiology of Reproduction; 1994: 725-780.
- 16. Fukumoto M, Yajimba Y, Okamura H, Midorikawa O. Collagenolytic enzyme activity in human ovary: an ovulatory enzyme system. Fertil Steril 1981; 36: 746-750.
- 17. Murdoch WJ, McCormick RJ. Enhanced degradation of collagen within apical vs. basal wall of ovulatory ovine follicle. Am J Physiol 1992; 263: E221-225.
- 18. Beers WH, Strickland S, Reich E. Ovarian plasminogen activator: relationship to ovulation and hormonal regulation. Cell 1975; 6: 387-394.
- 19. Dow MPD, Bakke LJ, Pursley JR, Smith GW. Gonadotropin surge-induced upregulation of the plasminogen activators (tissue plasminogen activator and urokinase plasminogen activator) and urokinase plasminogen activator receptor within bovine periovulatory follicular and luteal tissue. Biol Reprod 2002; 66: 413-421.
- 20. Dow MPD, Bakke LJ, Cassar CA, Peters MW, Pursley JR, Smith GW. Gonadotropin surge-induced upregulation of messenger RNA for plasminogen activator inhibitors 1 and 2 within bovine periovulatory follicular and luteal tissue. Reproduction 2002; 123: (in press).
- 21. DeClerck YA, Laug WE. Cooperation between matrix metalloproteinases and the plasminogen activator-plasmin system in tumor progression. Enzyme Protein 1996; 49: 72-84.
- 22. Leonardsson G, Peng XR, Liu K, Nordstrom L, Carmeliet P, Mulligan R, Collen D, Ny T. Ovulation efficiency is reduced in mice that lack plasminogen activator gene function: functional redundancy among physiological plasminogen activators. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1995; 92: 12446-12450.
- 23. Nagase H. Activation mechanisms of matrix metalloproteinases. Biol Chem 1997; 378: 151-160.
- 24. Bode W, Reinemer P, Huber R, Kleine T, Schnierer S, Tschesche H. The X-ray crystal structure of the catalytic domain of human neutrophil collagenase inhibited by a substrate analogue reveals the essentials for catlysis and specificity. EMBO J 1994; 13: 1263-1269.
- 25. Greene J, Wang M, Liu YE, Raymond LA, Rosen C, Shi YE. Molecular cloning and characterization of human tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 4. J Biol Chem 1996; 271: 30375-30380.

- 26. Willenbrock F, Murphy G. Structure-function relationships in the tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases. Amer J Resp Crit Med 1994; 150: 165-170.
- 27. Basbaum CB, Werb Z. Focalized proteolysis: spatial and temporal regulation of extracellular matrix degradation at the cell surface. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1996; 8: 731-738.
- 28. Brooks P, Stromblad S, Sanders L, von Schlascha T, Aimes R, Stetler-Stevenson W, Quigley JP, Cheresh D. Localization of matrix metalloproteinase MMP-2 to the surface of invasive cells by interaction with integrin $\alpha v\beta 3$. Cell 1996; 85: 683-693.
- 29. Talbot P, Martin G, Ashby H. Formation of the rupture site in preovulatory hamster and mouse follicles: loss of surface epithelium. Gamete Res 1987; 17: 287-302.
- 30. Ackerman R, Murdoch J. Prostaglandin-induced apoptosis of ovarian surface epithelial cells. Prostaglandins 1993; 45: 475-485.
- 31. Steller H. Mechanisms and genes of cellular suicide. Science 1995; 267: 1445-1449.
- Zolti M, Meirom R, Shemesh M, Wollach D, Mashiach S, Shore L, Ben-Rafael Z. Granulosa cells as a source and target organ for tumor necrosis factor α. FEBS Lett 1990; 261: 253-255.
- 33. Brannstrom M, Bonello N, Wang LJ, Norman RJ. Effects of tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF alpha) on ovulation in the rat ovary. Reprod Fertil Dev 1995; 7: 67-73.
- 34. Murdoch WJ, Colgin DC, Ellis JA. Role of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in the ovulatory mechanism of ewes. J Anim Sci 1997; 75: 1601-1605.
- 35. Johnson ML, Murdoch J, Van Kirk EA, Kaltenbach JE, Murdoch WJ. Tumor necrosis factor α regulates collagenolytic activity in preovulatory ovine follicles: Relationship to cytokine secretion by the oocyte-cumulus complex. Biol Reprod 1999; 61: 1581-1585.
- 36. Cajander S. Structural alterations of rabbit ovarian follicles after mating with special reference to the overlying surface epithelium. Cell Tissue Res 1976; 173: 437-449.
- 37. Bjersing L, Cajander S. Ovulation and the mechanism of follicle rupture. Cell Tissue Res 1974; 149: 287-300.

- 38. Mossman H, Duke K. Comparative morphology of the mammalian ovary. Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin Press; 1973.
- 39. Motta P, van Blerkom J. A scanning electron microscopic study of the luteofollicular complex. Am J Anat 1975; 143: 241-263.
- 40. Parr E. Rupture of ovarian follicles at ovulation. J Reprod Fertil 1975; 22 (suppl): 1-22.
- 41. Rawson J, Espey LL. Concentration of electron dense granules in the rabbit ovarian surface epithelium during ovulation. Biol Reprod 1977; 17: 561-566.
- 42. Murdoch WJ. Programmed cell death in preovulatory ovine follicles. Biol Reprod 1995; 53: 8-12.
- 43. Murdoch WJ. Differential effects of indomethacin on the sheep ovary: prostaglandin biosynthesis, intracellular calcium, apoptosis, and ovulation. Prostaglandins 1996; 52: 497-506.
- 44. Hess S, Gulati R, Peluso JJ. Hepatocyte growth factor induces rat ovarian surface epithelial cell mitosis or apoptosis depending on the presence or absence of an extracellular matrix. Endocrinology 1999; 140: 2908-2916.
- 45. Miyamoto S, Teramoto H, Gutkind J, Yamada K. Integrins can collaborate with growth factors for phosphorylation of receptor tyrosine kinases and MAP kinase activation: roles of integrin aggregation and occupancy of receptors. J Cell Biol 1996; 135: 1633-1642.
- 46. Grimek H, Bellin M, Ax RL. Characteristics of proteoglycans isolated from small and large bovine ovarian follicles. Biol Reprod 1984; 30: 397-409.
- 47. McArthur M, Irving-Rodgers H, Byers S, Rodgers R. Identification and immunolocalization of decorin, versican, perlecan, nidogen, and chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans in bovine small-antral ovarian follicles. Biol Reprod 2000; 63: 913-924.
- 48. Reardon A, Heinegard D, McLeod D, Sheehan J, Bishop P. The large chondroitin sulphate proteoglycan versican in mammalian vitreous. Matrix Biol 1998; 17: 325-333.
- 49. Danielson K, Baribault H, Holmes D, Graham H, Kadler K, Iozzo R. Targeted disruption of decorin leads to abnormal collagen fibril morphology and skin fragility. J Biol Chem 1997; 136: 729-743.

- 50. Bellin M, Veldhuis J, Ax RL. Follicular fluid glycosaminoglycans inhibit degradation of low density lipoproteins and progesterone production by porcine granulosa cells. Biol Reprod 1987; 37: 1179-1184.
- 51. Poole AR. Proteoglycans in health and disease: Structures and functions. Biochem J 1986; 236: 1-14.
- 52. Vassalli JD, Pepper M. Membrane proteases in focus. Nature 1994; 370: 14-15.
- 53. Strongin AY, Collier I, Bannikov G, Marmer BL, Grant GA, Goldberg GI. Mechanism of cell surface activation of 72-kDa type IV collagenase. Isolation of the activated form of the membrane metalloprotease. J Biol Chem 1995; 270: 5331-5338.
- 54. Ohuchi E, Imai K, Fujii Y, Sato H, Seiki M, Okada Y. Membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase digests interstitial collagens and other extracellular matrix macromolecules. J Biol Chem 1997; 272: 2446-2451.
- 55. Knauper V, Will H, Lopez Otin C, Smith B, Atkinson SJ, Stanton H, Hembry RM, Murphy G. Cellular mechanisms for human procollagenase-3 (MMP-13) activation. Evidence that MT1-MMP (MMP-14) and gelatinase a (MMP-2) are able to generate active enzyme. J Biol Chem 1996; 271: 17124-17131.
- 56. Curry TE, Osteen KG. Cyclic changes in the matrix metalloproteinase system in the ovary and uterus. Biol Reprod 2001; 64: 1285-1296.
- 57. Atkinson S, Crabbe T, Cowell S, Ward R, Butler M, Sato H, Seiki M, Reynolds J, Murphy G. Intermolecular autolytic cleavage can contribute to the activation of progelatinase A by cell membranes. J Biol Chem 1995; 270: 30479-30485.
- 58. Hagglund AC, Ny A, Leonardsson G, Ny T. Regulation and localization of matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases in the mouse ovary during gonadotropin-induced ovulation. Endocrinology 1999; 140: 4351-4358.
- 59. Chaffin CL, Stouffer RL, Duffy DM. Gonadotropin and steroid regulation of steroid receptor and aryl hydrocarbon receptor messenger ribonucleic acid in macaque granulosa cells during the periovulatory interval. Endocrinology 1999; 140: 4753-4760.
- 60. Smith GW, Goetz TL, Anthony RV, Smith MF. Molecular cloning of an ovine ovarian tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases: ontogeny of messenger ribonucleic acid expression and in situ localization within preovulatory follicles and luteal tissue. Endocrinology 1994; 134: 344-352.

- 61. Mann JS, Kindy MS, Edwards DR, Curry TE, Jr. Hormonal regulation of matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors in rat granulosa cells and ovaries. Endocrinology 1991; 128: 1825-1832.
- 62. McIntush EW, Keisler DH, Smith MF. Concentration of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMP)-1 in ovine follicular fluid and serum. J Anim Sci 1997; 75: 3255-3261.
- 63. Liu K, Wahlberg P, Ny T. Coordinated and cell-specific regulation of membrane type matrix metalloproteinase 1 (MT1-MMP) and its substrate matrix metalloproteinase 2 (MMP-2) by physiological signals during follicular development and ovulation. Endocrinology 1998; 139: 4735-4738.
- 64. Reich R, Daphna Iken D, Chun SY, Popliker M, Slager R, Adelmann Grill BC, Tsafriri A. Preovulatory changes in ovarian expression of collagenases and tissue metalloproteinase inhibitor messenger ribonucleic acid: role of eicosanoids. Endocrinology 1991; 129: 1869-1875.
- 65. Curry TE, Jr., Mann JS, Huang MH, Keeble SC. Gelatinase and proteoglycanase activity during the periovulatory period in the rat. Biol Reprod 1992; 46: 256-264.
- 66. Chaffin CL, Stouffer RL. Expression of matrix metalloproteinases and their tissue inhibitor messenger ribonucleic acids in macaque periovulatory granulosa cells: time course and steroid regulation. Biol Reprod 1999; 61: 14-21.
- 67. Russell DL, Salamonsen LA, Findlay JK. Immunization against the N-terminal peptide of the inhibin alpha 43-subunit (alpha N) disrupts tissue remodeling and the increase in matrix metalloproteinase-2 during ovulation. Endocrinology 1995; 136: 3657-3664.
- 68. Gottsch ML, Van Kirk EA, Murdoch WJ. Tumour necrosis factor alpha upregulates matrix metalloproteinase-2 activity in periovulatory ovine follicles: metamorphic and endocrine implications. Reprod Fertil Dev 2000; 12: 75-80.
- 69. Gottsch ML, Van Kirk EA, Murdoch WJ. Role of matrix metalloproteinase-2 in the folliculo-luteal transition. In: 83rd Annual Meeting of the Endocrine Society; 2001; Denver Colorado. Abstract 372.
- 70. Gross J, Harper E, Haris E, McCroskery P, Highberger J, Corbett C, Kang A. Animal collagenases: Specificity of action and substrate cleavage site. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1974; 61: 605-612.
- 71. Reich R, Tsafriri A, Mechanic GL. The involvement of collagenolysis in ovulation in the rat. Endocrinology 1985; 116: 522-527.

- 72. Butler TA, Zhu C, Mueller RA, Fuller GC, Lemaire WJ, Woessner JF, Jr. Inhibition of ovulation in the perfused rat ovary by the synthetic collagenase inhibitor SC 44463. Biol Reprod 1991; 44: 1183-1188.
- 73. Liu X, Wu H, Byrne M, Jeffrey J, Krane S, Jaenisch R. A targeted mutation at the known collagenase cleavage site in mouse type I collagen impairs tissue remodeling. J Cell Biol 1995; 130: 227-237.
- 74. Curry TE, Jr., Dean DD, Woessner JF, Jr., LeMaire WJ. The extraction of a tissue collagenase associated with ovulation in the rat. Biol Reprod 1985; 33: 981-991.
- 75. Espey LL. Ultrastructure of the apex of the rabbit graafian follicle during the ovulatory process. Endocrinology 1967; 81: 267-276.
- 76. Chun S, Reich R, Jarry H, Pitzel L, Wuttke W, Tsafriri A. Localization of interstitial collagenase gene expression in gilt preovulatory follicles. Endocrine Journal 1993; 1: 481-486.
- 77. Tadakuma H, Okamura H, Kitaoka M, Iyama K, Usuku G. Association of immunolocalization of matrix metalloproteinase 1 with ovulation in hCG-treated rabbit ovary. J Reprod Fertil 1993; 98: 503-508.
- 78. Balbin M, Fueyo A, Lopez JM, Diez Itza I, Velasco G, Lopez Otin C. Expression of collagenase-3 in the rat ovary during the ovulatory process. J Endocrinol 1996; 149: 405-415.
- 79. Velasco G, Pendas AM, Fueyo A, Knauper V, Murphy G, Lopez Otin C. Cloning and characterization of human MMP-23, a new matrix metalloproteinase predominantly expressed in reproductive tissues and lacking conserved domains in other family members. J Biol Chem 1999; 274: 4570-4576.
- 80. Cassar CA, Bakke LJ, Pursley JR, Smith GW. Expression of matrix metalloproteinase-23 mRNA during the periovulatory period in cattle. In: 33rd Annual Meeting, Society for the Study of Reproduction; 2000; Madison, WI. Abstract 175.
- 81. Robker RL, Russell DL, Espey LL, Lydon JP, O'Malley BW, Richards JS. Progesterone-regulated genes in the ovulation process: ADAMTS-1 and cathepsin L proteases. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2000; 97: 4689-4694.
- 82. Bagavandoss P. Differential distribution of gelatinases and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 in the rat ovary. J Endocrinol 1998; 158: 221-228.
- 83. Bernhard E, Gruber S, Muschel R. Direct evidence linking expression of matrix metalloproteinase 9 (92-kDa gelatinase/collagenase) to the metastatic phenotype in transformed rat embryo cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1994; 91: 4293-4297.

- 84. Nagase H, Woessner JF, Jr. Matrix metalloproteinases. J Biol Chem 1999; 274: 21491-21494.
- 85. Brew K, Dinakarpandian D, Nagase H. Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: evolution, structure and function. Biochem Biophys Acta 2000; 1477: 267-283.
- 86. Gomez D, Alonzo D, Yoshiji H, Thorgeirsson U. Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: structure, regulation and biological functions. Eur J Cell Biol 1997; 74: 111-122.
- 87. Pavloff N, Staskus PW, Kishnani NS, Hawkes SP. A new inhibitor of metalloproteinases from chicken: ChIMP-3. A third member of the TIMP family. J Biol Chem 1992; 267: 17321-17326.
- 88. Leco K, Khokha R, Pavloff N, Hawkes SP, Edwards D. Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-3 (TIMP-3) is an extracellular matrix-associated protein with a distinctive pattern of expression in mouse cells and tissues. J Biol Chem 1994; 269: 9352-9360.
- 89. Leco KJ, Apte SS, Taniguchi GT, Hawkes SP, Khokha R, Schultz GA, Edwards DR. Murine tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-4 (TIMP-4): cDNA isolation and expression in adult mouse tissues. FEBS Lett 1997; 401: 213-217.
- 90. Boujard N, Ogwuegbu S, Garnier M, Lee C, Martin B, Papadopoulos V. Identification of a stimulator of steroid hormone synthesis isolated from testis. Science 1995; 268: 1609-1612.
- 91. Hayakawa T, Yamashita K, Tanzawa K, Uchijima E, Iwata K. Growth-promoting activity of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 (TIMP-1) for a wide range of cells. A possible new growth factor in serum. FEBS Lett 1992; 298: 29-32.
- 92. Murphy A, Unsworth E, Stetler-Stevenson W. Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-2 inhibits bFGF-induced human microvascular endothelial cell proliferation. J Cell Physiol 1993; 157: 351-358.
- 93. Talhouk RS, Bissell MJ, Werb Z. Coordinated expression of extracellular matrixdegrading proteinases and their inhibitors regulates mammary epithelial function during involution. J Cell Biol 1992; 118: 1271-1282.
- 94. Murphy G, Reynolds JJ, Werb Z. Biosynthesis of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases by human fibroblasts in culture. Stimulation by 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol 13-acetate and interleukin 1 in parallel with collagenase. J Biol Chem 1985; 260: 3079-3083.

- 95. Inderdeo DS, Edwards DR, Han VK, Khokha R. Temporal and spatial expression of tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases during the natural ovulatory cycle of the mouse. Biol Reprod 1996; 55: 498-508.
- 96. Murray SC, Keeble SC, Muse KN, Curry TE, Jr. Regulation of granulosa cellderived ovarian metalloproteinase inhibitor(s) by prolactin. J Reprod Fertil 1996; 107: 103-108.
- 97. Curry TE, Song L, Wheeler S. Cellular localization of gelatinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases during follicular growth, ovulation, and early luteal formation in the rat. Biol Reprod 2001; 65: 855-865.
- 98. Curry TE, Nothnick WB. Changes in ovarian TIMP expression during follicular growth, ovulation, and the luteal period in the rat. In: Hawkes S, Edwards D, Khokha R (eds.), Tissue Inhibitors of Metalloproteinases in Development and Disease. Amsterdam: Harwood Academic Publishers; 2000: 119-126.
- 99. Smith GW, McCrone S, Petersen SL, Smith MF. Expression of messenger ribonucleic acid encoding tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-2 within ovine follicles and corpora lutea. Endocrinology 1995; 136: 570-576.
- 100. Smith GW, Juengel JL, McLntush EW, Youngquist RS, Garverick HA, Smith MF. Ontogenies of messenger RNA encoding tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases 1 and 2 within bovine periovulatory follicles and luteal tissue. Domest Anim Endocrinol 1996; 13: 151-160.
- 101. Simpson K, Byers M, Curry TE. Spatiotemporal messenger ribonucleic acid expression of ovarian tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases throughout the rat estrus cycle. Endocrinology 2001; 142: 2058-2069.
- 102. Smith MF, McIntush EW, Ricke WA, Kojima FN, Smith GW. Regulation of ovarian extracellular matrix remodelling by metalloproteinases and their tissue inhibitors: effects on follicular development, ovulation and luteal function. J Reprod Fertil Suppl 1999; 54: 367-381.
- 103. Gaddy-Kurten D, Hickey G, Fey G, Gauldie J, Richards J. Hormonal regulation and tissue-specific localization of α_2 -macroglobulin in rat ovarian follicles and corpora lutea. Endocrinology 1989; 125: 2985-2995.
- 104. Curry TE, Jr., Sanders SL, Pedigo NG, Estes RS, Wilson EA, Vernon MW. Identification and characterization of metalloproteinase inhibitor activity in human ovarian follicular fluid. Endocrinology 1988; 123: 1611-1618.
- 105. Sellers A, Murphy G. Collagenolytic enzymes and their naturally occurring inhibitors. Intl Rev Connect Tissue Res 1981; 9: 151.

- 106. Curry TE, Jr., Mann JS, Estes RS, Jones PB. Alpha 2-macroglobulin and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases: collagenase inhibitors in human preovulatory ovaries. Endocrinology 1990; 127: 63-68.
- 107. Aho S, Rouda S, Kennedy S, Qin H, Tan E. Regulation of human interstitial collagenase (matrix metalloproteinase-1) promoter activity by fibroblast growth factor. Eur J Biochem 1997; 247: 503-510.
- 108. White L, Brinckerhoff C. Two activator protein-1 elements in the matrix metalloproteinase-1 promoter have different effects on transcription and bind Jun D, c-Fos, and Fra-2. Matrix Biol 1995; 14: 715-725.
- 109. Mauviel A. Cytokine regulation of metalloproteinase gene expression. J Cell Biochem 1993; 53: 288-295.
- 110. Quin H, Sun Y, Benveniste E. The transcription factors Sp1, Sp3 and AP-2 are required for constitutive matrix metalloproteinase-2 gene expression in astroglioma cells. J Biol Chem 1999; 8: 29130-29137.
- 111. Lohi J, Lehti K, Valtanen H, Parks W, Keski-Oja J. Structural analysis and promoter characterization of the human membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase-1 (MT1-MMP) gene. Gene 2000; 242: 75-86.
- 112. Vincenti M, Coon C, Brinckerhoff C. Nuclear factor kappaB/p50 activates an element in the distal matrix metalloproteinase 1 promoter in interleukin-1 betastimulated synovial fibroblasts. Arthritis Rheum 1998; 41: 1987-1994.
- 113. Sun Y, Sun Y, Wenger L, Rutter J, Brinckerhoff C, Cheung H. p53 downregulates human matrix metalloproteinase-1 (Collagenase-1) gene expression. J Biol Chem 1999; 274: 11535-11540.
- 114. Rauvala H, Pihlaskari R. Isolation and some characteristics of an adhesive factor of brain that enhances neurite outgrowth in central neurons. J Biol Chem 1987; 262: 16625-16635.
- 115. Tsafriri A, Lidner H, Zor U, Lamprecht S. In vitro induction of meiotic division in follicle-enclosed rat oocytes by LH, cyclic AMP, and prostaglandin E₂. J Reprod Fertil 1972; 31: 39-50.
- 116. Tsafriri A, Chun S, Reich R. Role of eicosanoids in the mediation of LH/hCG stimulation of ovarian collagenase and of ovulation. The 8th International Conference on Prostaglandins and Related Compounds; 1992; Montreal, Canada. Abstract 510.

- Sirois J. Induction of prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase-2 by human chorionic gonadotropin in bovine preovulatory follicles in vivo. Endocrinology 1994; 135: 841-848.
- 118. Tsai SJ, Wiltbank MC, Bodensteiner KJ. Distinct mechanisms regulate induction of messenger ribonucleic acid for prostaglandin (PG) G/H synthase-2, PGE (EP3) receptor, and PGF2 alpha receptor in bovine preovulatory follicles. Endocrinology 1996; 137: 3348-3355.
- 119. Algire JE, Srikandakumar A, Guilbault LA, Downey BR. Preovulatory changes in follicular prostaglandins and their role in ovulation in cattle. Can J Vet Res 1992; 56: 67-69.
- 120. Richards J, Russell DL, Robker RL, Dajee M, Alliston TN. Molecular mechanisms of ovulation and luteinization. Mol Cell Endocrinol 1998; 145: 47-54.
- 121. Lim H, Paria BC, Das SK, Dinchuk JE, Langenbach R, Trzaskos JM, Dey SK. Multiple female reproductive failures in cyclooxygenase 2-deficient mice. Cell 1997; 91: 197-208.
- 122. Davis BJ, Lennard DE, Lee CA, Tiano HF, Morham SG, Wetsel WC, Langenbach R. Anovulation in cyclooxygenase-2-deficient mice is restored by prostaglandin E2 and interleukin-1beta. Endocrinology 1999; 140: 2685-2695.
- 123. Mikuni M, Pall M, Peterson CM, Peterson CA, Hellberg P, Brannstrom M, Richards JS, Hedin L. The selective prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase-2 inhibitor, NS-398, reduces prostaglandin production and ovulation in vivo and in vitro in the rat. Biol Reprod 1998; 59: 1077-1083.
- 124. Sirois J, Dore M. The late induction of prostaglandin G/H synthase-2 in equine preovulatory follicles supports its role as a determinant of the ovulatory process. Endocrinology 1997; 138: 4427-4434.
- 125. Hedin L, Gaddy-Kurten D, Kurten R, DeWitt D, Smith W, Richards J. Prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase in rat ovarian follicles: content, cellular distribution, and evidence for hormonal induction preceding ovulation. Endocrinology 1987; 121: 722-731.
- 126. Smith W. The eicosanoids and their biochemical mechanisms of action. Biochem J 1989; 259: 315-324.
- 127. Morris J, Richards J. Hormone induction of lueinization and prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase-2 involves multiple cellular signaling pathways. Endocrinology 1993; 133: 1429-1438.
- 128. Wong WY, Richards JS. Evidence for two antigenically distinct molecular weight variants of prostaglandin H synthase in the rat ovary. Mol Endocrinol 1991; 5: 1269-1279.
- 129. Snyder BW, Beecham GD, Schane HP. Inhibition of ovulation in rats with epostane, an inhibitor of 3 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1984; 176: 238-242.
- 130. Mori T, Suzuki A, Nishimura T, Kambegawa A. Inhibition of ovulation in immature rats by antiprogesterone antiserum. J Endocrinol 1977; 73: 185-186.
- 131. Richards JS. Hormonal control of gene expression in the ovary. Endocr Rev 1994; 15: 725-751.
- 132. Sicinski P, Donaher JL, Geng Y, Parker SB, Gardner H, Park MY, Robker RL, Richards J, McGinnis LK, Biggers JD, Eppig JJ, Bronson RT, Elledge SJ, Weinberg R, Cyclin D2 is an FSH-responsive gene involved in cell proliferation and oncogenesis. Nature 1996; 384: 470-474.
- 133. Lydon JP, DeMayo FJ, Funk CR, Mani SK, Hughes AR, Montgomery CA Jr., Shyamala G, Conneely OM, O'Malley BW. Mice lacking progesterone receptor exhibit pleiotropic reproductive abnormalities. Genes Dev 1995; 9: 2266-2278.
- 134. Lydon JP, DeMayo FJ, Conneely OM, BW OM. Reproductive phenotypes of the progesterone receptor null mutant mouse. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 1996; 56: 67-77.
- 135. Cassar CA, Dow MPD, Pursley JR, Smith GW. Effect of the preovulatory LH surge on bovine follicular progesterone receptor mRNA expression. Domest Anim Endocrinol 2002; 22:179-187.
- 136. Yangi H, Sasaguri Y, Suguma K, Morimatsu M, Nagase H. Production of tissue collagenase (matrix metalloproteinase 1) by human aortic smooth muscle cells in response to platelet-derived growth factor. Atherosclerosis 1991; 91: 207-216.
- 137. Okuda Y, Okamura H, Kanzaki H, Takenaka A, Morimoto K, Nishimura T. An ultrastructural study of capillaries of rabbit ovarian follicles during the ovulatory process. Acta Obstetrica et Gynaecologica Japonica 1980; 32: 739-748.
- 138. Vaalamo M, Weckroth M, Puolakkainen P, Kere J, Saarinen P, Lauharanta J, Saarialho-Kere U. Patterns of matrix metalloproteinase and TIMP-1 expression in chronic and normally healing human cutaneous wounds. Br J Dermatol 1996; 135: 52-59.

- 139. Sudbeck B, Pilcher B, Welgus H, Parks W. Induction and repression of collagenase-1 by keratinocytes is controlled by distinct components of different extracellular matrix compartments. J Biol Chem 1997; 272: 22103-22110.
- 140. Pursley JR, Kosorok MR, Wiltbank MC. Reproductive management of lactating dairy cows using synchronization of ovulation. J Dairy Sci 1997; 80: 301-306.
- 141. Pursley JR, Mee MO, Wiltbank MC. Synchronization of ovulation in dairy cows using PGF2alpha and GnRH. Theriogenology 1995; 44: 915.
- 142. Jimenez-Krassel F, Binelli M, Tucker HA, Ireland JJ. Effect of long-term infusion with recombinant growth hormone-releasing factor and recombinant bovine somatotropin on development and function of dominant follicles and corpora lutea in Holstein cows. J Dairy Sci. 1999; 82: 1917-1926.
- 143. Matteri RL, Roser JF, Baldwin DM, Lipovetsky V, Papkoff H. Characterization of a monoclonal antibody which detects luteinizing hormone from diverse mammalian species. Domest Anim Endocrinol 1987; 4: 157-165.
- 144. Ricke WA, Smith GW, Smith MF. Analysis of luteal tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMP-1, -2, and -3) during prostaglandin F2α-induced luteolysis: Implications of altering the MMP:TIMP ratio. Biol Reprod 2002; 66: (in press).
- 145. Mertz LM, Rashtchian A. Nucleotide imbalance and polymerase chain reaction: effects on DNA amplification and synthesis of high specific activity radiolabeled DNA probes. Anal Biochem 1994; 221: 160-165.
- 146. Sambrook J, Fritsch, E.F., Maniatis, T. Molecular cloning. A laboratory manual. Cold Spring Harbor, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press; 1989.
- 147. Kurebayashi J, Otsuki T, Kunisue H, Tanaka K, Yamamoto S, Sonoo H. Expression levels of estrogen receptor-alpha, estrogen receptor beta, coactivators, and corepressors in breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2000; 6: 512-518.
- 148. Fata J, Ho A-V, Leco K, Moorehead R, Khokha R. Cellular turnover and extracellular matrix remodeling in female reproductive tissues: functions of metalloproteinases and their inhibitors. Cell Mol Life Sci 2000; 57: 77-95.
- 149. Alexander CM, Werb Z. Proteinases and extracellular matrix remodeling. Curr Opin Cell Biol 1989; 1.
- 150. Marchenko G, Strongin A. MMP-28, a new human matrix metalloproteinase with an unusual cysteine-switch sequence is widely expressed in tumors. Gene 2001; 265: 87-93.

- 151. Brannstrom M, Woessner JF, Jr., Koos RD, Sear CH, LeMaire WJ. Inhibitors of mammalian tissue collagenase and metalloproteinases suppress ovulation in the perfused rat ovary. Endocrinology 1988; 122: 1715-1721.
- 152. Cooke RG, Nothnick WB, Komar C, Burns P, Curry TE. Collagenase and gelatinase messenger ribonucleic acid expression and activity during follicular development in the rat ovary. Biol Reprod 1999; 61: 1309-1316.
- 153. Pei D, Weiss SJ. Transmembrane-deletion mutants of the membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase-1 process progelatinase A and express intrinsic matrix-degrading activity. J Biol Chem 1995; 271: 9135-9140.
- 154. McIntush EW, Pletz JD, Smith GW, Long DK, Sawyer HR, Smith MF. Immunolocalization of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 within ovine periovulatory follicular and luteal tissues. Biol Reprod 1996; 54: 871-878.
- 155. Lederer K, Luciano A, Pappalardo A, Peluso JJ. Proliferative and steroidogenic capabilities of rat granulosa cells of different sizes. J Reprod Fertil 1995; 103: 47-54.
- 156. Amsterdam A, Koch Y, Lieberman E, Lindser H. Distribution of binding sites for human chorionic gonadotropin in the preovulatory follicle of the rat. J Cell Biol 1975; 67: 894-900.
- 157. Itoh T, Ikeda T, Gomi H, Nakao S, Suzuki T, Itohara S. Unaltered secretion of beta-amyloid precursor protein in gelatinase A (matrix metalloproteinase-2)-deficient mice. J Biol Chem 1997; 272: 22389-22392.
- 158. Schochet SS. A suggestion as to the process of ovulation and ovarian cyct formation. Anat Rec 1916; 10: 447-457.
- 159. Reich R, Miskin R, Tsafriri A. Follicular plasminogen activator: involvement in ovulation. Endocrinology 1985; 116: 516-521.
- 160. Quinn C, Scott D, Brinckerhoff C, Matrisian LM, Jeffrey J, Partr N. Rat collagenase. Cloning, amino acid sequence comparison, and parathyroid hormone regulation in osteoblastic cells. J Biol Chem 1990; 265: 22342-22347.
- 161. Rutter J, Benbow U, Coon C, Brinckerhoff C. Cell-type specific regulation of human interstitial collagenase-1 gene expression by interleukin-1β (IL-1β) in human fibroblasts and BC-8701 breast cancer cells. Jouranl of Cellular Biochemistry 1997; 66: 322-336.
- 162. Vincenti M, Coon C, Mengshol J, Yocum S, Mitchell P, Brinckerhoff C. Cloning of the gene for interstitial collagenase-3 (matrix metalloproteinase-13) from rabbit

synovial fibroblasts: differential expression with collagenase-1 (matrix metalloproteinase-1). Biochem J 1998; 331: 341-346.

- 163. Murdoch WJ, Hansen TR, McPherson LA. A review--role of eicosanoids in vertebrate ovulation. Prostaglandins 1993; 46: 85-115.
- 164. Shibata S. Effect of RU486 on collagenolytic enzyme activities in immature rat ovary. Acta Obstetrica et Gynaecologica Japonica 1990; 32: 739-748.
- 165. Leco K, Hayden L, Sharma R, Rocheleau H, Greenburg A, Edwards D. Differential regulation of TIMP-1 and TIMP-2 mRNA expression in normal and Ha-ras-transformed murine fibroblasts. Gene 1992; 117: 209-217.
- 166. Bakke LJ, Dow MPD, Cassar CA, Peters MW, Charest M, Ricke WA, Smith MF, Pursley JR, Smith GW. Differential regulation of tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases 1-4 (TIMP 1-4) in bovine preovulatory follicles following the LH surge: Implications for regulation of the ovulatory process. In: 33rd Annual Meeting, Society for the Study of Reproduction, Canada. 2001; Abstract.
- 167. Bond M, Murphy G, Bennett M, Amour A, Knauper V, Newby A, Baker A. Localization of the death domain of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-3 to the N terminus. J Biol Chem 2000; 275: 41358-41363.
- 168. Alexander CM, Howard EW, Bissell MJ, Werb Z. Rescue of mammary epithelial cell apoptosis and entactin degradation by a tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 transgene. J Cell Biol 1996; 135: 1669-1677.
- 169. Sympson C, Talhouk R, Bissell MJ, Werb Z. The role of metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in regulating mammary epithelial morphology and function in vivo. Perspectives in Drug Discovery and Design 1994; 2: 401-411.
- 170. Bertaux B, Hornebeck W, Eisen A, Dubertret L. Growth stimulation of human keratinocytes by tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases. J Invest Dermatology 1991; 97: 679-685.
- 171. Clark I, Powell L, Cawston T. Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase (TIMP-1) stimulates the secretion of collagenase from human skin fibroblasts. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1994; 203: 874-880.
- 172. Zhao W, Li H, Yamashita K, Guo X, Hoshino T, Yoshida S, Shinya T, Hayakawa T. Cell cycle-associated accumulation of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 (TIMP-1) in the nuclei of human gingival fibroblasts. J Cell Sci 1998; 111: 1147-1153.

- 173. Johnson M, Kim H, Chesler L, Tsao-Wu G, Bouck N, Polverini P. Inhibition of angiogenesis by tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase. J Cell Physiology 1994; 160: 194-202.
- 174. Nothnick WB, Soloway P, Curry TE. Assessment of the role of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 (TIMP-1) during the periovulatory period in female mice lacking a functional TIMP-1 gene. Biol Reprod 1997; 56: 1181-1188.
- 175. Shores E, Hunter M. Production of tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) by pig ovarian cells in vivo and the effect of TIMP-1 on steroidogenesis in vitro. J Reprod Fertil 2000; 120: 73-81.
- 176. Nothnick WB. Disruption of the tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 gene results in altered reproductive cyclicity and uterine morphology in reproductive-age female mice. Biol Reprod 2000; 63: 905-912.
- 177. Hartung S, Rust W, Balvers M, Ivell R. Molecular cloning and in vivo expression of the bovine steroidogenic acute regulatory protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1995; 215: 646-653.
- 178. Smith M, Kung H, Durum SK, Colburn N, Sun Y. TIMP-3 induces cell death by stabilizing TNF-alpha receptors on the surface of human colon carcinoma cells. Cytokine 1997; 9: 770-780.
- 179. Ahonen M, Baker A, Kahari V. Adenovirus-mediated gene delivery of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-3 inhibits invasion and apoptosis in melanoma cells. Cancer Research 1998; 58: 2310-2315.
- 180. Baker A, Zaltsman A, George S, Newby A. Divergent effects of tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1, -2, or -3 overexpression on rat vascular smooth muscle cell invasion, proliferation, and death in vitro. J Clin Invest 1998; 101: 1478-1487.
- 181. Amour A, Slocombe P, Webster A, Butler M, Knight C, Smith B, Stephens P, Shelley C, Hutton M, Knauper V, Doeherty A, Murphy G. TNF-alpha converting enzyme (TACE) is inhibited by TIMP-3. FEBS Lett 1998; 435: 39-44.
- 182. Wick M, Burger C, Brusselbach S, Luicibello F, Muller R. A novel member of the human tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMP) gene family is regulated during G₁ progression, mitogenic stimulation, differentiation and senescence. J Biol Chem 1994; 269: 18953-18960.
- 183. Gervasi, DC, Avraham R, Dehem M, Yang M, Kurkinen M, Fridman R. Carbohydrate-mediated regulation of matrix metalloproteinase-2 activation in normal human fibroblasts and fibrosarcoma cells. Biochem Biophys Res Com 1996; 228: 530-538.

- 184. Itoh T, Ikeda T, Gomi H, Nakao S, Suzuki T, Itohara S. Unaltered secretion of βamyloid precursor protein in gelatinase A (matrix metalloproteinase-2)-deficient mice. J Biol Chem 1997; 272(36): 22389-22392.
- 185. Zhou Z, Apte S, Soininen R, Cao R, Baaklini G, Rauser R, Wang J, Cao Y, Tryggvason K. Impaired endochondral ossification and angiogenesis in mice deficient in membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000; 97(8): 4052-4057.
- 186. Ahahi M, Wang X, Mori T, Sumii T, Jung JC, Moskowitz MA, Fini ME, Lo EH. Effects of matrix metalloproteinase-9 gene knock-out on the proteolysis of bloodbrain barrier and white matter component after cerebral ischemia. J Neurosci 2001; 21(19): 7724-7732.
- 187. Silence J, Lupu F, Collen D, Lijnen HR. Persistence of atherosclerotic plaque but reduced aneurysm formation in mice with stromelysin-1 (MMP-3) gene inactivation. Arterioscler Throm Vasc Biol 2001; 21(9): 1440-1445.
- 188. Morrison CJ, Butler GS, Bigg HF, Roberts CR, Soloway PD, Overall C. Cellular activation of MMP-2 (gelatinase-A) by MT2-MMP occurs via a TIMP-2independent pathway. J Biol Chem 2001; 276(50): 47402-47410.
- 189. Rajewsky K, Gu H, Kuhn R, Betz U, Muller W, Roes J, Schwenk F. Perspective series: Molecular medicine in genetically engineered animals. J Clin Invest 1996; 98: 600-603.

